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1?0216 32,462 |15,701,276 162 7,135
’ T @3)| (1,012)
2021
25,858 | 32,993
12 21 3,925,400 |19,626,676 ’ ’
(3.667)| (4,679)
2022
2,430 | 35,423
18 364,400 |19,991,076
345)|  (5,024)
2022
5,759 | 41,182
11 29 1,330,900 |21,321,976
@617 (5,840)
2023
3,745 | 44,927
14 616,300 |21,938,276
3| (6,372)

7,141,379.25
YCP Holdings

YCP Holdings Limited

Limited

7.27
6.59
6.59

YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited
Y Asset Management Limited

15,881,275
Y Asset Management Limited
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7.25
6.67
6.67

4.33
4.33
Auctus Advisors Private Limited

6.08

6.08

Chocho Ventures Pte. Ltd.
2023 12 31

10 2024 Shenkuo Business Partners Limited
333,016 1,454 206

11 2024 2024 30

*
2023 12 31

- 1 7 54 1,897 1,959 -

- 1,681,100 1,363,128 8,946,601 9,947,447 | 21,938,276 -

- 7.66 6.21 40.78 45.34 100.00 -

JDR JDR

JDR
JOR
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2023 12 31
Y Asset Management Limited 6,360,000 28.99
33 46
1,681,100 7.66
1,349,900 6.15
1,333,300 6.08
INTERACTIVE BROKERS LLC ONE LINCOLN STREET, BOSTON MA USA 943,000 4.30
02111
858,200 3.91
783,300 3.57
Chocho Ventures Pte. Ltd. 16 Raffles Quay,#33-03, Hong Leong 616,300 2.81
Building, Singapore
600,000 2.73
485,000 2.21
— 15,010,100 68.42
JDR JDR
JDR
JDR

51/309



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

€))

10

CEO
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©
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CEO
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0000000
@
)
CEO
Q)

CEO 12 12
12 12
12 12
2023 17
2023 17
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@

25

2003
2006

2006

2007
2009
2011 W Tokyo

2011 YCP Japan

2012

YCP Management Southeast Asia Pte.
2013 Ltd. YCP SG Pte. Ltd.
Director

1982 2013 ] _
CEO 10 Director

YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset
2013 11 |Management Limited

Director
YCP H Ki Limi
2013 11 ? ong Kong Limited
Director
Aoyama Sweets Factory Thailand
2014 )
Co., Ltd. Director
YCP Solidi ., Ltd.
2015 ? Solidiance Co., Ltd
Director
2015 N?turali Hong Kong Limited
Director
YCP Education Limited
2017 _
Director
2017 11 ATOMS
2018 ARUKI
YCP Solidiance
2018 YCP Japan
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2019 SOLIA
2019
2019 Y?P Dining Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Director
Go Food Service Pte. Ltd. Director
2019
2020 LVG
YCP Solidiance
2020 YCP Japan
YCP Solidiance Limited
2021 YCP Hong Kong Limited
Director
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2021
CEO
2022
2023 Auctus Advisors Private Limited
Director
2023 YCP Investment Limited
Director
2023 Consus Global Pvt. Ltd.
Director

58/309



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

1990
1994

1990 10 Hewlett Packard Co., Limited
Xerox Engineering Systems, Inc.

1992
1995 A.T. Kearney

C. Melchers Consulting GmbH
1997

Head of Greater China

Chase.com, The Chase Manhattan

2000 Bank

Vice President

2000 11 |McKinsey & Co

Master Alliance Co., Ltd. Managing

2002 )
Director
2006 Booz Allen Hamilton
2014 KPMG Transactions Services Limited
2015 D!gltaura Advisory Co., Ltd.
Director
Chong Kin Group Holdings Ltd.
2016 Independent Non-Executive
19622 Director 5,000

2016 12 |YCP Hong Kong Limited
Tam Jai International Co. Limited

2018 .
Director
2018 10 UMEOX Innovations Co., Ltd.
Director
Principal Lecturer: HKU SPACE
2018 11 InsFltute for Chln? Business
Senior Programme Director
YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset
2019 Management Limited
Director
2019 Cyberport Entrepreneurship Centre

Advisory Group Member
Entrepreneurial Leaders Institute,
2020 Wycliffe Hall, University of
Oxford Advisor

Chartered Management Institute

2020 Board Member

2020 H?xon Green Capital Limited
Director

2020 Association of Family Offices in
Asia Board Advisor

2001 YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
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1979

1979

1992 Rodamas Group Director
Business Compass Consultancy

1996

1998 10 |[Consolidated Foods Australia
Limited

Managing Director CEO

2001 ABR Holdings Limited CEO
2002 12 Intraco Limited CEO

APEC Business Advisory

2003 )
Council Member

2005 Heartware Network Trustee
Singapore Customs Advisory
2005 Committee

Committee Member

Singapore Business Federation

2007 12
CEO
Singapore International

1951 2008 _ )
7 19 Arbitration Centre Sole Member -

Youth Business Singapore

2008 B
Chairman
APEC Business Advisory Council

2009 for APEC Year 2009
National Youth Achievement Award

2011 Singapore (NYAA)
Advisory Board

2011 Barterfli Holdings Pte Ltd
Chairman

2011

2012 SG21ST Pte Ltd Director

2012

2013 Nicore Resources Pte Ltd
Director

2013 10 |Visionedge Technologies Pte Ltd
Chairman

2014

JETRO

2016 Regina Global Holdings Pte Ltd

Chairman
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2016 11 [Asia Entrepreneurs Exchange
Chairman

2017 Temasek Polytechnic
Distinguished Adviser

2017

2017 ASTORISE MEDICAL Pte Ltd
Chairman

2017 L Crown Systems Pte Ltd
Chairman

2019 Blue Aqua International Pte Ltd
Corporate Adviser

2019 Stem-Cell United Limited
Adviser

2019 Luxcer echnology (Asia) Pte Ltd
Director

2020 ETQ Global Pte Ltd Adviser

2020 ETQ Global Pte Ltd
Director

2020 12 |[Silver Joy Pte Ltd
Director

2021 Link Capital Pte Ltd
Adviser

2021 10 |Agri Biotech Knowledge Centre
Limited Director

2022 YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
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2003

2004 10 57

2010 LL.M.

2011 LL.M.

1980 ~
24

2004 10

2004 10

2011 10

2012 10

2023 YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2024 27 2024 12
2024 27 2025 12
2024 27 2025 12
2023 17 2024 12

CEQ
CEO
CEO
CEQ
CEO
C0o0

CFO
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12

12 12

12 12

CEO

2023 17

2023 17

CEO
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)

300 60 300 60
(43) ® (43) ©®

43 - 47 4
©) ) ™ (1)

343 60 347 64
(49) (©)) 49 [©)

Ernst & Young a.

)

513 41 271 -
(3) (©) (38) &)

- - 380 -
) ) (€D )

513 41 651 -
(3) ®) (92) )
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e.
*
a.
2023 17
a
281 228 53 1
(40) (32) O ©
75 75 ] ]
(11) (11)
b
c

66/309

oOoOooodn



YCP Investment Limited

EDINETOOOO

ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

oOoOooodn

( ) ( )
666 712
(94) (101)
- 12,502
B ) (1,773)
) ) |( ( )
(-) (-) (-)
) ) )
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( )) ( ))
345 ) -
(49) &)
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( ) [ ( )| ( ( ))
) ) )
) ) )
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2022

193

40

IFRS

)

321 ) 35

2023

2022 12 31
SFRS(1)

131

193

132

EDINETOOOO

ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
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2023
IFRS
(
134
141.82
133

IFRS
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
2023 2022
6 121,778 17,271 85,559 12,134
39,052 5,538 25,218 3,576
82,726 11,732 60,341 8,558
6 92 13 5,615 796
19,914 2,824 13,196 1,871
53,491 7,586 39,857 5,653
297 42 275 39
9,116 1,293 12,628 1,791
8 211 30 27 4
9 383 54 284 40
13 2 34 5
7 8,931 1,267 12,337 1,750
11 3,213 456 1,938 275
5,718 811 10,399 1,475
5,478 77 10,391 1,474
240 34 8 1
5,718 811 10,399 1,475
/ 12 25.41 36.04 51.72 73.35

/ 12 25.41 36.04 51.72 73.35
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
2023 2022
5,718 811 10,399 1,475
2,992 424 5,621 797
- - 59 8
2,992 424 5,680 805
29 7 1 2 0
- - 2 0
2,999 425 5,676 805
2,719 386 4,723 670
2,569 364 4,719 669
150 21 4 1

2,719 386 4,723 670
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
2023 2022 2023 2022
( )

13 7,920 1,123 6,157 873 - - - -

13 6,646 943 6,993 992 - - - -

14 53,126 7,534 36,585 5,188 - - - -

15 5,906 838 5,332 756 12 2 13 2

16 - - - - 10,583 1,501 20,685 2,934

17 - - 28 4 - - - -
18 1,010 143 13,214 1,874 666 94 13,214 1,874
21 1,039 147 1,763 250

28 1,906 270 1,915 272 - - - -

77,553 10,999 71,987 10,209 11,261 1,597 33,912 4,809

19 8,002 1,135 5,221 740 - - - -
20 11,825 1,677 11,483 1,629 - - - -
20 2,616 371 1,126 160 - - - -
21 5,679 805 5,088 722 39,343 5,580 18,239 2,587

22 - - - - 423 60 452 64
23 26,193 3,715 23,473 3,329 5,735 813 4,811 682

54,315 7,703 46,391 6,579 45,501 6,453 23,502 3,333

24 4,982 707 5,482 77 - -
25 20,319 2,882 19,800 2,808 1,516 215 2,377 337
26 6,607 937 4,307 611 - - - -
27 3,330 472 2,516 357 - - - -

2,272 322 1,572 223 - - - -

37,510 5,320 33,677 4,776 1,516 215 2,377 337

16,805 2,383 12,714 1,803 43,985 6,238 21,125 2,996

94,358 13,382 84,701 12,012 55,246 7,835 55,037 7,805
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2023 12 31

2023 2022 2023 2022

25 1,623 230 2,150 305 - - - -
26 15,688 2,225 12,610 1,788 - - - -
27 3,469 492 4,612 654 - - - -
28 1,393 198 1,306 185 - - - -
29 66 9 106 15 - - - -

22,239 3,154 20,784 2,948 - - - -

72,119 10,228 63,917 9,065 55,246 7,835 55,037 7,805

30 44,927 6,372 41,182 5,840 44,927 6,372 41,182 5,840
31 25,977 3,684 22,621 3,208 10,319 1,463 13,855 1,965

70,904 10,056 63,803 9,049 55,246 7,835 55,037 7,805
1,215 172 114 16 - - - -

72,119 10,228 63,917 9,065 55,246 7,835 55,037 7,805
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
31 32
2023 1 1 41,182 1,972 6,639 30,918 321 7 63,803 114 63,917
(5,840)  ( 280) ( 942)  (4,385) (46) (D (9,049) (16) (9,065)
- - - 5,478 - - 5,478 240 5,718
- - - () - - ) (34) (811)
- - - 2,902 - - - 2,902 90 2,992
- - ( 412 - - - ( 412) ( 13) ( 424)
29 - - - - - 7 7 - 7
- - - - - (GR)) (D) - (@)
- - 2,902 5,478 - 7 2,569 150 2,719
- - (412 777 - (D (364) (@D (386)
30 - - - - - - - 106 106
- - - - - - - (19 ( 15
30 - 519 - - - - 519 1,057 1,576
_ @4 - - - - 7% (150) (224)
3,745 - - - - - 3,745 - 3,745
30
(531) - - - - - (531) - (531)
32 - - - - 268 - 268 - 268
- - - - (38) - (38) - (38)
2023 12 31 44,927 1,453 9,541 36,39 589 14 70,904 1,215 72,119
(6,372) ( 206) ( 1,353) (5,162) (8% (2 (10,056) (172)  (10,228)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
31 32
2022 1 1 32,993 1,972 963 20,527 123 11 50,697 110 50,807
(4,679)  ( 280) ( 137)  (2,911) an (2 (7,190) (16)  (7,205)
- - - 10,391 - - 10,391 8 10,399
- - - (1,474) - - (1,474) @ (1,475
' - - 5,617 - - 2 5,615 4 5,619
- - ( 797) - - ) ( 79) (79D
_ — 59 - - - 59 - 59
- - ) - - - Q) - ()
29 - - - - - 2 2 - 2
_ - - - - (0) (0) - ©
- - 5,676 10,391 - 4 4,719 4 4,723
- - ( 805)  (1,474) - () (669) 1) (670)
30 2,641 - - - - - 2,641 - 2,641
(375) - - - - - (375) - (375)
5,759 - - - - - 5,759 - 5,759
30
(817) - - - - - (817) - (817)
30 211 - - - - - 211 - 211
( 30) - - - - - ( 30) - ( 30)
32 - - - - 198 - 198 - 198
_ _ - - (28) - (28) - (28)
2022 12 31 41,182 1,972 6,639 30,918 321 7 63,803 114 63,917
(5,840)  ( 280) ( 942)  (4,385) (46) (D (9,049) (16)  (9,065)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
31 32
2023 1 1 41,182 1,972 6,228 21,734 321 55,037
(5,840) ( 280) ( 883) (3,082) (46)  (7,805)
- - - 254 - 254
_ - - ( 36) - ( 36)
~ ~ 3,550 ~ ~ 3,550
- - ( 503) - - ( 503)
- - 3,550 - - 3,550
- - ( 503) - - ( 503)
30 3,745 - - - - 3,745
(531) - - - - (531)
32 - - - - 268 268
- - - - (38) (38)
2023 12 31 44,927 1,972 9,778 21,480 589 55,246
(6,372) ( 280) ( 1,387) (3,046) (84)  (7,835)
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2023 12 31
31 32
2022 1 1 32,993 1,972 867 8,458 123 38,735
(4,679) ( 280) ( 123) (1,200) an  (5,493)
- - - 13,276 - 13,276
- - - (1,883) - (1,883)
- - 5,361 - - 5,361
- - ( 760) - - ( 760)
- - 5,361 13,276 - 7,915
( 760) (1,883) - (1,123)
30 2,641 - - - - 2,641
(375) - - - - (375)
30 5,759 - - - - 5,759
(817) - - - - (817)
30 211 - - - - 211
( 30) - - - - ( 30)
32 - - - - 198 198
- - - - (28) (28)
2022 12 31 41,182 1,972 6,228 21,734 321 55,037
(5,840) ( 280) ( 883) (3,082) 46)  (7,805)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
2023 2022

8,931 1,267 12,337 1,750

8 211 30 27 4

6 _ - 4,871 691

6 4 1 74 10

6 18 3 - -

27 - - 31 4

7 1,719 244 1,023 145

7 3,991 566 3,225 457

7 853 121 335 48

7 23 3 2 0

7 77 11 56 8

7 - - 67 10

7 1 0 2 0

7 _ - 424 60

7 22 3 9 1

7 27 4 _ -

7 66 9 - -

9 383 54 284 40

17 13 2 34 5

29 51 7 5 1

32 268 38 198 28

6 - - 455 65

6 15 2 - -

16,073 2,279 12,529 1,777

477 68 215 30

1,294 184 196 28

2,949 418 2,558 363

467 66 180 26

592 84 1,547 219

2,485 352 1,941 275

9,697 1,375 13,298 1,886

2,993 424 2,341 332

6,704 951 10,957 1,554
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211 30 27 4
- - 1,546 219
3,699 525 998 142
45 6 48 7

- - 30 4
14,775 2,095 16,165 2,293
12,599 1,787 - -
345 49 691 98

1 0 1 0

94 13 37 5

- - 144 20
5,959 845 19,269 2,733
_ . 2,641 375

- - 211 30
10,824 1,535 9,377 1,330
4,782 678 10,461 1,484
4,040 573 3,148 446
168 24 100 14
215 30 184 26
1,576 224 - _
3,195 453 2,086 296
3,940 559 10,398 1,475
23,473 3,329 38,513 5,462
1,220 173 4,642 658
26,193 3,715 23,473 3,329
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31

2021

JDR 2021 12 21

#05-21
Y Asset Management
Limited ( YAM

YCP Japan 29,800,000 - 100
YCP
Solidiance

YCP Hong Kong 918,000 - 100
Limited
YCP
Solidiance
Limited

YCP Shanghai 5,469,864 - 100
Limited (
YCP )
Solidiance
(Shanghai)
Limited
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YCP

International

B.V. YCP

Solidiance

International

B.V.

YCP SG Pte. Ltd.
YCP

Solidiance

Pte. Ltd.

YCP (Thailand)
Co., Ltd.

YCP
Solidiance,
Co., Ltd.

YCP Solidiance
Limited

Auctus Advisors
Private Limited

*

Consus Global
Pte. Ltd.

Consus Global
DWC-LLC

100 -

1,718,998 (2022

100%)

2022
638,469

5,000,000 -

200,000 -

600,000 -

50,000 -

300,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
1.
#
Consus Global 15,000 - 100
LLC (2022
)
YCP Investment 9,700,000 100 -
Limited (2022
9,241,176
)
SOLIA 65,500,000 - 90
(2022 : (2022 :
10,000,000 ) 100)
59,017,858 - 90
(2022 : (2022 :
YCP 10,000,000 ) 100)
Lifemate
55,000,000 - 90
(2022 :
100)
10,000,000 - 90
(2022 :
100)
YCP Dining 812,060 - 100
Singapore Pte.
Ltd.
Go Food Service 450,000 - 100
Pte. Ltd. "
J-Foods Hong 20,360,966 - 100

Kong Limited
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Auctus Advisors Private Limited

** 2023 12 31
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34

2023 12 31
1.
#
YCP RLA 35,000,000 - -
Trading ** (2022
55)
4,750,000 - 100
ARUKI 10,000,000 - 100
ARUKI
)
#
2022 12 31 2023 12 31
#it
Go Food
Go Food
* Auctus Advisors Private Limited
10

33(F)

YCP RLA Trading
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
2.
2.1
SFRS(1) IFRS
SFRS(1)  IFRS
SFRS(1)  IFRS IFRS
2.2

2023 1 1
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31

2.

2.3
IFRS 16 : 2024 1 1
IAS 1 : 2024 1 1
IAS 1 : 2024 1 1
IAS 7 IFRS 7 : 2024 1 1
IAS 21 : 2025 1 1
IFRS 10 IAS 28

2.4
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31

2.4

86/309



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

ooo0000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31

2.5

12 31
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2.5

2.6
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2.7

2.8
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31

27.

2023 2022
3,427 3,330 3,037 2,516
2,837 2,762 3,090 3,670

736 707 1,293 942

7,000 6,799 7,420 7,128
201 292
6,799 7,128
3,330 2,516
3,469 4,612

2023 2022

7,128 4,199

4,124 4,686

( 33 517 2,206

655 401

168 100

4,208 3,248

- 31

275 383

12 31 6,799 7,128
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
27.
2023 2022
( 9) 168 100
( 3,991 3,225
1,420 1,044
1 2
- 31
66 -
5,644 4,336
2023
5,628,000 2021 : 4,292,000

2023 4,124,000 2022 : 4,686,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
28.
2022 18 784 705 828 2,335
( 33) - 183 374 668 1,225
1 185 371 74 629
29 1 - - - 1
8 102 93 94 281
2022 12 31 2023
11
24 1,050 1,357 1,476 3,907
( 33) - 166 21 111 298
_ 1 - - 1
11 41 478 119 627
29 2 - - - 2
- 66 86 102 254
2023 12 31

15 1,190 1,770 1,604 4,579
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
28.
2022 1 1 2 215 862 146 1,225
( 33) 244 1,063 659 24 1,990
58 50 39 240 171
3 29 99 21 88
2022 12 31
2023 1 1
191 1,257 1,461 389 3,298
( 33) 15 93 111 367 586
104 145 98 519 368
12 25 101 48 186
2023 12 31

90 1,180 1,569 1,227 4,066
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2023 12 31
28.
2023 2022
1,906 1,915
1,393 1,306
513 609
2023 2022 2023 2022
5,103 2,911 635 -
4,326,000 2022 2,680,000
10
777,000 2022 231,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
29.
2023
Kantor Konsultan Aktuaria Steven & Mourits
2023 2022
1 1 106 125
- 24 31
- - 42
2 6
77 -
- 5 1
- 4 4
2 11
12 31 66 106
2023 2022
53 31
2 6
- 42
28 11 1
40 4
/
c )
- 5 1
- 4 4
28 2 1
7 2
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2023 12 31
29.
2023 2022
% 7.00 7.45
56 55
o 10 10
2023
/
/
o
1/(1) (9)/11
1/(1) 11/(9)
2022
/
/
o
1/(1) (22)/10
1/(1) 10/(22)
30.
2023 2022
- 21,938,276 (2022 : 21,321,976) 44,927 41,182
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2023 12 31
30.
2021 12 31 2022 1 1 19,626,676 32,993
( a) 364,400 2,641
( a) - 211
b) 1,330,900 5,759
2022 12 31 2023 21,321,976 41,182
c) 616,300 3,745
2023 12 31 21,938,276 44,927
(@) 2022 18 7.247 364,400
2,641,000 211,000
(b) 2022 11 29 1,330,900
JDR 1 4.33
5,759,000
(c) 2023 8 14 616,300
JDR 6.08

3,745,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
31.
(i) 2021 4 YAM
(1)
32.
Pre-IPO
Post-1P0O
Pre—IPO Pre-1PO
2021

Pre-IPO i
ii
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
32.
Post-I1P0 Post-I1P0O
2022
10
Post-1PO i
ii
i
Pre-1P0 Post—IPO
2022 1 1 - 1,085,378 - —
5.00 155,500 4.31 165,000
5.00 (298,533) - -
2022 12 31 2023
11 5.00 942,345 4.31 165,000
- - 5.48 621,000

5.00 (227,284) 4.92 (113,000)

2023 12 31 5.00 715,061 5.29 673,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
32.
(i)
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1 -
2023 2022
2024 12 21 2027 12 20 5.00 614,561 789,845
2024 12 21 2027 12 20 5.00 100,500 152,500
2025 10 1 2028 9 30 4.31 102,000 165,000
2026 2029 31 5.68 400,000 -
2026 10 2029 30 4.97 171,000 -
1,388,061 2022
1,107,345
1,388,061 2022 : 1,107,345 7,136,795
2022 : 5,422,875
(iii)
795,300
1.28 2022 : 298,688 0.93
2023 12 31 268,000 2022
198,000
Post-1PO Pre-1p0
2023 2022 2022
% 4.37 4.37 4.37
% 40.77 - 40.84 41.12 41.57
% 0.14 - 0.41 0.36 2.43
6.00 6.00 5.72

4.92 - 5.85 3.98 5.89
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
32.
scheme ( RSU )
RSU
RSU
RSU RSU 3
RSU
2023 12 31 66,300
JDR
1 709 2023 12 31
33.
(a) 2023
100
321,088,000 2,375,000
(b) 2023
100
330,000,000 2,463,000
(c) 2023 2023 21
Consus Global Pvt. Ltd. SB
Invest Pte. Ltd. 100%
(i) 11,235,000

(ii) 3,745,000

(i)

616,300

2024 3 31 2025 3 31
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
33.
(@ 2022
1,380,000,000 10,304,000
(e) 2022 ARUKI
75 300,000,000 2,071,000 ARUKI

(FH 2023 12 31

TC Strategy Pte. Ltd. 50
TC Strategy
Pte. Ltd.
((©)) 2022 11
90 2022 12
10
10
10
10
100
10
©O) 573,480,000 7,535,000
(ii) 446,040,000 5,759,000 1,330,900
(iii) 12 24
21(a) 127,440,000

1,546,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
33.
2023
TC
Strategy
13 79 115 - - 194
13 - 517 - - 517
15 525 552 450 - 1,527
28 - 169 13 - 182
44 85 - - 129
18 - 1,384 - 1,402
- - 189 - 189
182 - 289 - 471
128 123 1,017 31 1,299
240 - 158 1 399
107 59 1,953 - 2,119
20 - - - 20
- - 37 - 37
27 - 517 - - 517
- - 274 - 274
28 190 186 94 - 470
419 799 826 30 2,074
1,956 1,665 14,901* - 18,522
- - - 15 15
— — — 15 15
2,375 2,464 15,727 - 20,566
2,375 2,464 11,235 - 16,074
30 - - 3,745 - 3,745
# 25 - - 747 - 747
2,375 2,464 15,727 - 20,566
2,375 2,464 11,235 - 16,074
128 123 1,017 31 1,299

2,247 2,341 10,218 31 14,775
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
33.
* 14,901,000
#
747,000
2023 12 31 1,232,000
1,000 1,965,000 254,000
2,912,000 151,000
2023 12
2023 12 31
126,933,000 5,659,000
2022
ARUKI
4,108 995 163 5,266
1,587 479 140 2,206
45 933 2,982 3,960
133 65 242 440
302 66 - 368
553 211 3,147 3,911
990 328 1,123 2,441
1,674 1,291 780 3,745
1,210 268 126 1,604
459 367 3,774 4,600
3,748 2,458 - 6,206
1,587 479 140 2,206
_ - 36 36
140 315 750 1,205
2,248 481 3,751 6,480
8,056 2,258* 13,282* 23,596
- 668 - 668

10,304 2,071 17,033 29,408
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
33.
2022
ARUKI
10,304 2,071 7,535 19,910
30(b) - - 5,759 5,759
25 - - 557 557
25(c) - - 3,182 3,182
10,304 2,071 17,033 29,408
10,304 2,071 7,535 19,910
1,674 1,291 780 3,745
8,630 780 6,755 16,165
* 2022 12 31 ARUKI
12,369,000 2,258,000
2023 12 31 ARUKI
13,282,000 2,258,000
2022 12 31
5,795,000 65,000 ARUKI 2,108,000
194,000 860,000 138,000
ARUKI 2022 12

2022 12 31
90,223,000 9,152,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
34.
2022 12 31 YCP RLA Trading
19,250,000 ( 133,000 )
2022 12 31
7,000,000 53,000 Solidiance Consulting GmbH
2023 2022
13 1 -
1 —
2 41
304 16
27 2
39 16
62 40
5 27
71 28
1 1
106 -
129 21
4 74
133 53
2023 2022
133 53
39 16

94 37
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
35.
@
4,124,000 2022 : 4,686,000 4,124,000 2022
4,686,000
()
(
)

2022 1 1 4,198 12,595
3,148 1,084
4,686 -
33 2,206 6,206
34 - 28
401 -
100 184
100 184
31 -
382 772
2022 12 31 2023 1 1 7,128 16,917
4,040 6,042
4,124 -
33 517 20
34) - 71
655 -
168 215
168 215
275 613

2023 12 31 6,799 22,295
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2023 12 31
35.
©
2023 2022
1,420 1,044
4,208 3,248
5,628 4,292
36.
@
2023 2022
2,848 2,835
77 15
2,925 2,850

10
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
37.
2023 2022
- - 12,502
- 1,010 712
11,825 11,483
5,620 4,641
26,193 23,473
44,648 52,811
4,982 5,482
9,478 10,941
22,295 16,917

36,755 33,340
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38.

2023 12 31
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
38.
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
2023 12 31
- - 1,010 1,010
2022 12 31
12,502 - - 12,502
- - 712 712
12,502 - 712 13,214
2022
2022 -
691
21
2022 12 31 2023 : 712
345
47

2023 12 31 1,010
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
39.
26
100
223,000 2022
169,000 /
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31

39.
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 12 31
39.
2023 12 31
12
1 2 2 2 2
2023 12 31
* - - - 11,891 11,891
* - - - 2,616 2,616
- ** 5,620 - - - 5,620
26,193 - - - 26,193
31,813 - - 14,507 46,320
2022 12 31
* - - - 11,555 11,555
* - - - 1,126 1,126
S 4,641 - - - 4,641
23,473 - - - 23,473

28,114 - - 12,681 40,795
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39.

20

**

20
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2023 12 31
39.
( )
1
1 5 5
2023
- 4,982 - - 4,982
- 8,711 767 - 9,478
1,324 5,526 14,120 2,079 23,049
- 3,428 2,837 735 7,000
1,324 22,647 17,724 2,814 44,509
2022
- 5,482 - - 5,482
- 9,664 1,277 - 10,941
1,456 3,009 11,445 1,617 17,527
- 3,037 3,090 1,293 7,420

1,456 21,192 15,812 2,910 41,370
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2023 12 31
39.
2023 12 31 18
2023 / 2022 /
33 34/26 26 29/25
2023
18
1,010 51
1,010 51
2022
18
12,502 625
712 36
13,214 661
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31

39.

40.

2023 12 31
2023 12 31

2023 2022
44,927 41,182
25,977 22,621

70,904 63,803
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2023 12 31
41.
2024
Shenkuo Business Partners Limited
4,939,000
42.
43.
2023 2022
1,057 _
44.

2024 25
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

MNotes 2023 2022
USE000 USE00d

Revenue i} 121,778 B5.559
Cosl of sales (39,052) (25.218)
Gross profit 82,726 60,341
Oiher income and gains, nel [ 22 56815
Selling and distribution expenses (19.814) (13.186)
Administrative expenses (53,481} [39.857)
Other operating expenses, net {2897) (275)
OFERATING PROFIT 8,116 12,628
Finance income 8 21 27
Finance costs g {383) (284)
Share of losses of a joint venture and associates (13) (34)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 BAM 12,337
Income tax expense 11 [3.213) (1.938)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 5718 10,389
Altributable toc
Orwmers of the parent 5478 10.381
Mon-controlling interesis 240 8
5718 10359
2023 2022
uUss uUss
Earnings per share atiributable to owners of the parent
Basic eamings par share (cents) 12 2541 51.72
Diluted eamings per share {cents) 12 2541 51.72
- -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Note 2023 2022
US5'000 USS'000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR a718 10,393
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent perods:
Exchange differences an translation of financial statements (2,992) (5.821)
Ehare of other comprehensive loss of associales - {59)

Met other comprehensive |oss that may be reclassified 1o
profit or loss in subsequent pariods (2.892) {5.680)

Other comprefensive income that will not be reclassified o
profit or loss in subsequent pariods;
Remeasuremsant 055 on defined benefit kabilities, netof tax 29 (T} 2
Exchange difference on transtation of financlal statlements - 2

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR.

MET OF TAX (2,990) {5.678)
TOTAL COMPREHEMNSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 2718 4. 723
Attnbuiatie to:

Owners of the parent 2 569 4.719

Non-comralling interests 150 4

2718 4723
= 10 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2023

Hotes Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
LSS 000 USE'000 UIS%'000 Ussono
{Restated)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equiprment 13 7,820 6,157 = =
Right-of-use assels 13 6,648 6,593 - -
Goadhll 14 53,128 36,585 - -
Other intangible assets 15 5,906 5332 12 13
Investments in subsidianes 16 - - 10,583 20,685
Invesiment in a joint venture 17 - 28 - -
Equity investments at fair value
hraugh profit oF 16ss 18 1.010 13,214 GBS 13,214
Prepayments, deposits and other iE] 5
recaivables 21 1,099 1.763
Deferred lax assels 28 1,906 1915 - -
Talal non-currenl assels Tr.553 71,867 11,281 33,812
CURRENT ASSETS
Invantonas 19 B8.002 5221 - -
Trade receivablies 20 11,825 11,463 - -
Contract assels 20 2816 1,128 - -
Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables 1| 5670 5088 30,243 18,230
Loan o a subsidiary 22 - - 423 452
Cash and bank balances 23 28,183 23,473 5,735 4 811
Taotal current assets 54315 46,391 45,501 23,502
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 24 4,882 5482 = =
Other payables and accruals 25 20,319 18,800 1516 2377
Interast-bearing bank and other
borrawings 26 6,607 4,307 - -
Lease liabilifies 27 3,330 2516 - -
Tax payahia 2272 1,572 - -
Total current liahilities 37,510 33,8677 1,516 2377
NET CURRENT ASSETS 16,805 12,714 43,985 21,125
TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURREMNT LIABILITIES 84 358 84,701 55,246 55,037
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

Notes Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
LUS5'000 USg'000 USE000 US$'000
(Restated)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 25 1,623 2,150 = =
Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings 26 15,688 12,810 - -
Lease liabilites 27 3469 4812 - -
Deferred tax liabiliias 28 1,383 1,308 - -
Defined benefit liabiities 29 L] 106 - -
Total non-current liabikties 22239 20,784 - -
MET ASSETS 72,119 63,917 55,246 55,037
EQUITY
Equity attributable 1o owners
of the parent
Share capital 30 44 827 41,182 44 827 41,182
Reserves =} 25977 22821 10,319 13,855
70,904 83,802 55,246 55,037
MNon-controdling interests 1,215 114 - -
TOTAL EQUITY 72,118 83,917 55 248 55,037
.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023
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Notes

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustmants for

Bank interast incoms a

Fair value gain on an equity investment at fair valua

throwgh profit of loss
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Gain on disposal of an equity investment at fair value
thrawgh profit or loss

Covid-18-related rent concessions from lessors

Depreciation of proparty, plant and equipmant

Depreciation of righl-of-use assets

Amortisation of other intangible assels

‘Write-off of property, plant and equipment

Write-off of invenionies

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Gain on lermenation of leases

Provision for loss on liquidation of a subsidiary

Pravision for expected credit lossas

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Imipairment of right-ol-use assets

Finance cosls

Share of losses of a joint ventura and associales

Defined benefit expenses

Equity-settled share option expense

Gain an remeasurement of investment in associate o f&ir

value upan business combination achieved in stages

Gain on slep acquisition of a subsidiary

HE oo~~~ w-wm am

L= -]

Operating cash inflows before changes in working
capital

Changes in working capital:
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Increase in contract assets

Increase in inventonies

Decreasal{increasa) in trade receivables
{Decrease)increase in trade payables
{Decrease)increass in other payables and accruals

Cash flows generated from operations
Income tax paid

Met cash flows generaled from operating activities

« T =
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2023 2022
USS'D00 UsSso00
B,831 12,337

{211} (27)
- {4,871}
4) (74}
{18) -
- (31}
1,718 1,023
3,501 3,225
853 335
23 2
i 56
- B7
(1) 2y
- 424
22 k|
27 -
=[] =
383 284
13 4
(51) (5}
268 198
2 (455)
(15) -
16,073 12,529
477 215
{1,284 (186)
(2,945) (2.558)
467 (180}
(582} 1,547
{2,485) 1,941
9,697 13,288
{2,083) (2,341)
6,704 10,957
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Notes 2023 2022
USE'000 USS'000
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interast recaived 21 27
Deposit paid for acquisition of a subsidiany - {1,546)
Purchases af property, plant and equipmeant 13 {3.609) {998}
Purchases of other intangible asseats 15 (43) {48}
Investment in a joint veniure 17 - (30}
Acquesitions of subsidiaries and a business 33 (14,773) (16,165)
Proceeds from disposal of an equity nvestment at fair value
through profit or loss 18 12,589 -
Acquisition of an equity investment at fair value thraugh prafit
of loss 18 [345) {91}
Procead fram disposal of items of praperty, plant and
equipment 13 1 1
Proceed from disposal of subsidiaries a3 a4 7
Decrease in pledged time deposits 23 - 144
Met cash Nlows used in investing activities (5.859) {19,269)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of shares 30 - 2841
Share iSSuf BXPEnses a0 - (211}
New interesi-bearing bank and ather borrowings 10.824 3377
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and other bomowings (4,782) [10,461)
Principal portion of lease paymeanis {4,040 (3,148)
Interest on lease liabilities 27 {168) (100)
Repuichase of shaies 30 - -
Interest paid {215} {184}
Contribution from non-controlling sharsholders 1) 1.578 -
Net cash flows generated from/{jused in) financing
activities 3,195 {2,086)
MNET INCREASE/NDECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 3,040 {10,308}
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 23473 38513
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 1,2200 {4,642)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 23 26,103 23,473

- 18 =
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Y¥CP Holdings {Global) Limited (the *“Company”™) was incorporated as a public limiled liabdlity
company domiciled in Singapore on 5 March 2021,

The Company’s Japanese Deposiary Recaipts ("JDR") were listed on the Growith market of
Tokyo Stock Exchangea {("TSE™) en 21 December 2021,

The registered office of the Company is located at 3 Fraser Street, DUO Tower, 805-21,
Singapore 188352, In the opinion of the direciors, the Company's immediate and ultimate
holding company is Y Asset Management Limited (YAM”), a company incorporated in Hang
Kong.

The principal aclivities of the Company are those of investment holding and provision of
management services o group companias.

The Company's subsidiaries are involvad in the following principal activities:

- prowision of management and advisory services;

. provision of supply chain management consultancy services;

* development, production and sale of natural and organic personal care products;

. operation of veleninary hospital and pet care business;

. operalion of restaurants and franchise sysiem in the focd and beverage Industry;

& production, sale and distribution of food products:

. trading and manufaciuring of Japanese-style desserts and confectionary products; and
. provision of supparting services for columbanum

Particulars of principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation! lssued
registration ordinary/ Percentage of
and registered equity attributable
Hame operations share capital  to the Company®  Principal activities
Direct  Indirect
YCP Japan. Inc. Japan Japanese Yen - 100 Provision of
{fermeedy Known {JPY") managament and
a5 “YCP Solidmnce, 29,800,000 achnsory services
Ine.")
YCP Hong Kong Hong Kong Unitesd Statles - 100 Prawision af
Lirnited Dallar (USS") management and
{Tormeey known 916,000 advisory services
83 “YCP Solldiance
Limited™)
¥CP Shanghai The People's Renminbi . 100 Provision of
Limited Republic of {"RMEBE™) management and
{tormerly known China ["PRC") 5,460 864 advisory services
as "Y' CP Salidiance
(Shanghai)
Limited™)

- 18 =
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023
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1. CORFORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Particulars of principal subsidiaries are as follows {continued).

Place of
incorporation/ Issued
registration ordinary! Percentage of
and registered equity attributable
MHame operations share capital  to the Company®
Direct  Indirect
YCP International  Metherlands Euwrodollar ("Euro™) - 100
B.V. (formerly 100
known as “YCP
Solidiance
Imermational
BV.Y)
YCP SG Pte. Ltd.  Singapore  Singapore Dollar - 100
{Tormerly known ("8GD") (2022
as “YCP 1,718,998  100%)
Solidiance (2022: SGD
Ple. Ltd.") £38.469)
¥CP (Thailand) Thailand Thad Baht - 100
Cao., Ltd. 5,000,000
{Toomerly known
as “YCP
Solidiance,
Co., Ltd.")
¥YCP Solikance  United States of US5200,000 - 100
Limited Armierica
["USAT)
Auctus Advisors India Indian Rupees - a0
Private Limited * {“INR") E00,000
Consus Giobal Singapore SGD 50,000 - 100
Pte, Lid. {2022;
Nil}
Consus Global Abu Dhabi Arab Emirate - 100
DWC-LLC Dirham ("AED") {2022
300,000 Nily
Comsus Global UsA Uss15,000 - 100
LLE {2022
Mil}
YCP Investment Hong Kang US$9,700,000 100
Limited (2022
LSS 241 178)
SOLIA Inc. Japan JPYES 500,000 - 80
(2022 (2022
JPY10,000.000) 100}
- 20 -
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Primcipal activities

Provision of
managemean and
advisory senices

Prowvision of
managemeni and
advisory senices

Prowsion of
management and
advisory senvices

Provision of
managemen and
advisory senices
Provision of
manageamen and
advisory sernvices
Provision of supply

chain management
consultancy senvices

Provision of supphy
chain managemnt
consultancy services

Provision of supply
chain managemsant
consultancy senvices

Invesiment holding

Development,
praduction and sale
af nalural and
arganic products
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023
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1. CORFORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Particulars of principal subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

Place of
incorporation/ Issued
registration ordinary! Percentage of
and registered  equity attributable
Hame operations share capital  to the Company®
Direct  Indirect
Lifemate, Inc. Japan JPYE8,017 858 - 80
(Tarmerly known (2022 {2022
as “YCP Lifemale, JPY10,000.000) 100}
Ine."}
Lifemate Japan JPY'SES 000,000 - a0
Veterinary {2022
Haospital Group, 100)
Inc.
Lifemate Animal Japan JPY 10,000,000 - 80
Emergency (2022
Centre, Inc. 100)
Y¥'CP Dining Singapaore SG0DB12 080 - 100
Singapore Pte,
Ltd.
CGo Food Seivice Singapore SGD450,000 - 100
Pte, Lid. *
J-Foods Hong Hong Kong Hang Komg - 100
Kong Limited Doilar (THKS")
20,3810, 966
YCP RLA Trading Japan JPY.35, 000,000 - -
Inc. ** {2022:
53)
Musashing Gebyo Japan JPY4 750,000 - 100
KK, ("MG")
Arukl Co, Lid. Japan JPY 10,000,000 - 100
("ArukiT)
-
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Principal activities

Operation of
velerinary hospatal
and pel care
business

Operation of
veterinary hospital

Operation of
velerinary hospital

Operation of
restaurants and
franchise system in
the food and
beverage industry

Production, sale and
distribution of Tood
products

Operation of
restaurants and
franchise system in
the food and
beverage indusiry

Trading and
praduction of
Japanese-style
confectionery
producls.

Provision of
supporling services
for columbarium

Operation of
restaurants and
franchise system in
the food and
beverage industry
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

1. CORFORATE INFORMATION (continued)

o The percantage of equily altributable to the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 are the same unless otherwise siated.

= The Group entered into several agreemients with the ron-controlling sharebolder 1o obtain
present access lo entire retuns of Go Food. Accondingly, in the opinon of the divectors, Go
Food 15 a whally-owned subsidiary of the Group,

2 The Group enlered into several agreements with the non-confrolling shareholders to obtain
the remaining 10% share ownership, Accordingly, in the opinion of the direclors, they are
wholly-owned subsidiares of the Group as disclosed in Note 33(f) o the finandal
stalemenis.

b The Group disposed of YGP RLA Trading Inc. to an independent third parties during the
year anded 31 December 2023, Details are as disclosed in Nota 34 1o the financial
statements.

2, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
21 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of
the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards (International) "SFRS()") and Inemational Financial Reporting Standards
{"IFRS"). SFRS(l) comprise standards and interpretations that are equivalent ta IFRS.

All references to SFRS{) and IFRS are subsequently referred Lo as IFRS in these financial
statements unless otharwise speafied.

The consobidated financial stalements have been prepared urder the historical cost basis
except as disclosed in the accounting palicies bebow.

The consalidated financial stalements are presented in USS, unlass otherwise stated.

22 Adoption of new and amended standards and inferpretations
The accounting policies adopted are cansistent with those of the previous financial year
except that in the curent financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and amended
standards which are relevant to the Group and are effective for annual financial perods

beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The adoption of these standards did not have any
material effect on the financial performance or position of the Group.

- 22 =
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective
The Group has not adopted the following standards appiicable to tha Group that have been

issued but not yat affeclive:
Effective for annual
periods beginning
Description on or after
Amendments lo IFRS 16: Leasa Liability In a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
Amendments lo 1AS 1; Non-current Liabilities with Covenanis 1 January 2024
Amendments 1o 1AS 1: Classification of Liabilties as Cumment or
Mon-current 1 January 2024
Amendments lo 1AS 7 and IFRS T: Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
Amendments 1o 1AS 21; Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025
Amendments o IFRS 10 and 1A5 28: Sale or Contributicn of Assets Date to be
batweean an Invesior and ils Associate or Joint Venture determined

The directors axpoct thal the adoption of the standards above will have no matenal impact
on the financial statements in the year of initial applicaticn.

24 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the company and
entities (incleding structured entities) controlled by the company and its subsidiaries, Control
Is achleved when the company:

. Has power over the inveslee,

® Is exposed, or has rights, to varable refumns from its involvement with the invesiee;
and

. Has the: ability 1o use ils power 1o affect its relums.

The Company reassesses whether or nal it controls an imeestes il lacts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above,

When the Company has less than a majority of the voling rights of an investee, it has power
over the investes when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practcal ability o direet
the relevant activities of the investes unilaterally. The company considers all relevant facis
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the company's voling rights in an invesias
are sufficient to give it power, including:

. The size of the company's holding of voling rights relative to the size and dispersion
of haldings of the olher vote holders;

. Potential voting rights held by the company, other vole holders o other partes,

. Rights arising from cther contractual arrangements: and

. Any addiional facls and circumetances that indicale that (he company has, or doas
nat have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting pattemns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

=23 =
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
24 Basis of consolidation {continued)

Cansolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceasas when the company losas control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehansive income from the date the
company gains contral until the date when the company ceases to coniral the subsidiary,

When necessary, adjusiments are made to the financial statements of subsidianes (o bring
thelr accounting pelicles in line with the group's accounting policies.

All Inlragroup assels and llabilities, eqguily, Income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions batween the members of the group are eliminated on consolidation.

Mon-controlling interests in subsidanes are identified separately from the group's equity
therain, Those interests of non-controlling shareholders that are presant ownership interestis
entifling their halders to a proportionate share of net assats upon liquidation may initially be
measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests” proportionate share of the fair value
of the acqguirea's identifiable netl assets. The choice of measuremant it made on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initizlly measured at fair
value. Subsequent 1o scquisidion, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is tha
amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controfling interests’ share of
subsequent Changes in aquity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed 10 the
owners of the company and to the non-conirolling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidianies is altibuled to the owners of the company and o the non-conlrolling interesis
even if this resulls in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, withoul a loss of contral, Is accounted for
as an equity transacton. If ihe Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- derecognises the assels (including goodwill) and liablities of the subsidiary at their
carmying amounts at the date when control is lost;

- derecognises the camying amount of any nen-controlling interest;

= derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in aquity;
- recognises the fair value of the consideralion recened,

- recognises the fair value of any invesiment retained;

- recognises any surpius or deficit in profit or loss;

- reclassifies the Group's share of components previously recognised In other
comprenensive income 1o profit or 0SS o TeVeNUE TeServes, as appropriate.

-2 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2.5 Business combinations and goodwill

Businaess combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transtermad is measured al the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquesition
date fair values of assels transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former cwners of the acquiree and the equity inberests issued by the Group in exchange for
contred of the acquiree, For each business combination, tha Group elects whether to
measure the non-controling interests in the acquiree thal are present cwnership inlerests
and entitie their holders 1o a proportionate share of net assets in the event of lquidation at
fair value or at the proporiionate share of the acguiree's ldentifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fain value, Acquisiion-related cosis
are expensed as incuimed.

The Group determines that il has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process that logether significantly confribute to
the: ability 1o create oulpuls.

When the Group acquires a business, It assesses the linancial assets and labilites assumed
for appropriate classification and desgnation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date, This includes
the separaion of embedded dersvatives in host contracts of tha acquinsa.

It the business combination is achieved in slages, the previously held equity interest is
remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss Is recognised in
prafit ar loss.

Any contingent consideration 1o be transfered by the acquirer is recognised at fair value al
the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profil or loss. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is inftially measured at cosl, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's praviously held equity Interests in the acquires over the identifiable net assels
acquired and liabilities assumed. I the sum of this consideration and olher items is lower
than the fair value of the nel assets acquwed, ihe diference s, afer reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss &s & gain on bargain purchase

After initial recognition, goodwill s measured at cost less any accumulated impalrment
losses. Goodwill is 1ested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicala thal he carrying valua may be impaired, The Group performs its
annual impairment test of geodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combénation is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating unis, or groups of cash-generating umits, that are
axpected to benefil from the synergies of the combination, mespactve of whether other
assets or llabilites of the Group are assigned to those unis or groups of unis.

=25 =
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2.5 Business combinations and goodwill {continued)

Impainment is determined by assessing the recoverabla amaunt of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-genarating units) t© which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amaunt of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amaount, an impairment koss is recognised. An imparment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequeant period,

Where goodwill has been allocated 10 8 cash-ganarating unit (or goroup of cash-genarating
units) and part of ihe operatlon within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determimng the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of In these crcumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

If the initkal accounting for a business combination was incomplete by the end of [ast reporting
period in which the combination ccourred, during the measurement period (ie., the pericd
after the acquisition date durng which an ently may adjust the provisional amwounis
recognised for a business combinabon), the Group shall recogmse adjustments 1o tha
pravisional amounts as if the accounting for the business combination had been completed
at the acquisition date. Thus, the Group shall revise comparative infarmation for prior panods
presented in financial statements as needed, and disclose the nature and amount of any
measurament period adjustmeants recognised during the reporting pariod.

2.6 Transactions with non-controlling interasis

Mon-conbrolling interest epresents the eguily in subsidianes nol atnbutable, directly o
indirectly, to owners of the Company.

Changes in the Company’s ownership inferes! in a subsidiary thal do nol result in a loss of
controd are accounted for as equity transactions. In such dreumstances, the carmying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests In the subsidiary. Any difference betwean the amount by which the
nen-cantrolling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

27 Subsidiaries

A subsidiany is an inastes thal is controfled by the Group. Controd is achigved when the
Group |5 exposed, or has rights, to variable retumns from its involvemant with the invesiee
and has the ability 1o affect those returns through its power over the invesiee. Specifically,
the Group controls an mveastea il, and only il, the Group has;

* Power over the nveslee (i.e.. exisling rights thal give il the current abiity (© direct the
relevant activities of the invesize);

* Exposure, of rights, 1o varable returns from its involvement with the investes;

* The ability (o use ils power over the invesiee to allect 15 retums.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to ocne or more of the thres elements of contral.

In the Company’s statemant of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are accounted
for at cost less impairment losses

= 26 =
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2.8 Invesimentis in associates and joint ventures

An associale is an enfity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less
than 20% of the equily voting rights and over which il i in a position b exercise significant
influence, Significant influence is the power to participale in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control o joint control over those policses.

A joint venlure is a type of joinl arrangement whereby the partes thal have joint control of
the arrangernent have rights to the net assats of the joint venture. Joint control S the
contractually agreed sharing of contrd of an arangement, which exisis only when decisions
aboul the relevant activities require the unanmous consent of the parties sharing controd,

The Group accounts for its investments in associates and a joint venture using the equity
method from the dale on which it becomes an associate or joint vemura,

On acqussition of the investiment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the investea's idenfifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for
as goodwill and &5 included in the camying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of he nel fair value of the investes's iaentifiable assels and habiliies over tha
cost of the invesiment is included as income in the determination of the entity's share of the
associate and joint venture's profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquined.

Lincer the equity method, investment in associates and joint vantures is camied in the balanca
sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of ihe
ASS0CIAtes or joinl ventures, The profit or loss reflects the share of results of 1he operations
of the associates or joint veniures, Distributions recelved from associales and joint ventures
reduce the carrying amount of the investment. YWhere thare has been a change recognised
in cther comprehensive income by the joint ventures, the Group recognises its share of such
changes in olher comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
tramsactions between the Group and joint veniures are eliminated to the extent of the interest
in the associales and joint venlures.

When lhe Group's share of losses In an associate and joint venture equals or excaeds iis
interest in the associate or joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unbess
It has incurred obligations or made paymants on behall of the assoaate and joinl ventune.

After application of the equity mathod, the Group determines whether it (s necessary 1o
recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group's investment in associates and joint
vienlures. The Group determines al the end of each reporting period whether then is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate and joint veniure Is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associale or poinl venture and its carrying value and recognises
the: amount in profit or loss.

The financial statements of the assccates and joint venlures are prepared as at the same
reporting date as the Company. Whare necessary, adjustments are made to bring the
accounting polickas in line with those of the Group.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2.9 Foreign currency

The Company’s functional currency is JPY. These financial statements are presented in
USSE, as the directors of the Company consider that US$ will facilitate analysis of the financial
infarmation of the Group, Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and dems included in the financial statements of each enity are measured using that
functional currency,

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entilias in the Group are infially recorded
using their respective funclional cuimency rales prevalling al the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabiliies denominated in foreign currencies are franslated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting perod. Differences
ariging on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss,

Mon-monatary #ems that are measured in tarms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
iteme measiuned al fair value in a fomeign currency ans ransiated using the exchange rates
at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on franslation of a
non-monelary ibem measured 2t fair value is treated in line with 1he recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., transkaticn difference on the item whose fair
value gain or boss is recognised in other comprehensive income o profit or I0ss is alkso
recognised in other comprehensive Income or profit or loss, respectivaly)

Consolidaied financial statements

On consolidation, the assets and liabdities of foreign cperations are translated into USS at
the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their staterments of profit or loss are
tramslated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange
differences arising on transtation for consolidaton are recognised in olher comprehensave
income, On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprahensive income
redating to that particular foreign operation ks recassified to profit or loss.

210  Propedly, plant and eguipment

Property, plant and equipment are staled at cost less accumulaled depraciation and any
impaimment |osses,

Cost includes expenditure that is direcily atiributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost
of self-construcied assets include:

. the cost of materials and direct labour;

. any other costs directly atributable 1o bringing the assets to a8 working condition for
thair intended use;

. when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate
of the cosls of dismantling and remowving the items and restoring the site on which they
are located; and

. capitalised bommowing costs.

= 28 =
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2,10 Properly, plant and equipment {continued)

Expenditure incurmed after items of property, plant and equipment have been pul into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, i nommally charged to profit or l0ss in the pericd
in which it is incurred. In siuations where the recognition criteria are salisfied, the
axpendilure for a major inspection is captalised in the carmying amount of the assel as a
replacemant. Where significant paris of property, plant and aequipment are required to be
replaced at Intervals, the Group recognises such pars as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciaton is calculated on the straighi-line basis 1o write off the cost of each tem of
prapery, plant and equipment Lo its residual value over its estimated useful Bfe. The prindcpal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows;

Freehold land Mot depreciated

Leasehaold improvemeanis Ower the shorter of the bease terms and 20%
Machinary 10% to 33%

Fumniture and fixtures 20% 1o 33%

Mestar vahicles 16% o 50%

Whaere parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have differant useful lives, the cost
of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each pan s depreciated
separately. Resicual values, useful ives and the depreciation method are réviewad, and
ad|usted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised Is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefils are expecled from its use
of disposal, Any gain or loss on disposal o reliremeant recogmised in profit or loss in the yvear
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant assat.

211 Intangible assels
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost
of intangible assels acquired in a business combinaton i the fair value al the date of
acquisiion. Following initial acquisition, intangible assets are camed at cost less any
accumulated amorbsation and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated
intangible assets, excluding capitalised development cosis, are not capitalised and
expenditure is reflected in profit or [0S in the year imwhich the expenditure is incuried.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed 10 be aither finite o indefinite.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
211 Imtangible asseis [continued)

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortisad over the useful economic fife
and assessad for impairment whenever therne is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite wseful |He are reviewad at least at each financial year end. Changes in the
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of fulure economic benefils
embodied n the assel is accounted for by changing the amorsation period or methed, as
appropriate, and are frealed as changes in accounting estimates,

Intangible assets with indefinite wsaful lives or not yel available for use are tesied for
impairment annually elther individually or at the cash-generating wil kevel. Such intangible
assets are not amorised, The useful life of an inlangible assat with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessmem conbnues o be
supportable, If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses ansing from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the
differance bebwean the nat disposal proceads and the carrying amount of the assel and are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Furchased patents and censes

The purchased patents and licenses are stated at cost less any Impairment kosses and are
amaortised on the straight-ling bass over their estimated useful ives of 10 years.,

Software

The purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is amortised on the
siraight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 vears.

Intevnet domain rame

The purchased intermet domain name is stated at cost less any impairment losses. It has
indehnite useful life as there I8 no foreseeable limil 10 the penod over which the assel is
expecied to generale cash flows for the Group,

Cusfomer relationzhips

The customer relationships acquired through a business combination are recognisad initially
al fair value at the acquisition date. Subseqguently, this imangitde asset is camied at cost less
accumulaled amarlisation and impairment losses. Amordisation of cuslomer relabionships is
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, which are
determined to be ranging from & to 10 years.

Brand name

The brand name acquired through a business combination are recognised initially at fair
valug al the acquisition dale. Subsequently, this Intangible assel is camied at cost less
accumulated amordisation and impairment losses. Amortisation of brand name is calculated

using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, which are determined o ba 10
years,
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2,12  Impairment of non-financial asseis

Whera an indication of impairment axisis, of when annual impaimment testing for an asset is
requirgd (othar than invemornes, contract assels, defermed tax assets and financial assals),
the assel's recoverable amount is estimated.

An assel’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-genarating unit's value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and i determined for an individual asset, unkess
the assat does not generate cash inflows hat are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount Is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the camrying amount of an assel exceeds s
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their presant value using a pre-tax discount rate thal reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific o the assel.

An impairment loss is charged to profit or kossin the penod in which it anses in those expense
categones consistent with the function af the impaired assel.

An assessment is made al the end ef each reporting period as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, ihe recoverable amount is estimated. A prevously
recognised iImpairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversad only if there has been
a change in the astimatas used 10 datermine the recoverable amount of that asset, bul not
to an amount higher than the carmying amount that would have been determined {net of any
depreciation/amonisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the assal in prios
vears. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited (o profil or loss in the period in which
it arises.

2.13  Fimancial instruments
{a) Financial assets
Iniial recognilion and measurement

Financial assels are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party 1o
the contraciual provisions of the financial instrument, The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recogniton,

Al initial recognition, the Group measurnes a financial asset at its fair valug plus, in the
case of a financial assel nol al finandgal assels al fair valua through profit or loss
(FWTPL), transaction costs thal are directly aftribulable o the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assels carried at FYTPL are axpansad
in profit or loss,

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group
expecis to be entited in exchange for transferring promised goods or services lo a

customer, excluding amounts collecied on behall of a thied party, Il the irade
recaivables da not contain a significant financing companant at initial recognition,
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
213  Financial instruments
{a) Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

Subsaquent measurement of debl instruments depends on the Group's business
model for manageng the assel and the eontractual cash flow characlenstics of the assel.
The three maasurement categories for dassification of debt instruments are:

(i)  Financial assels at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assels that are held for the collection of confractual cash flows whera
those cash flows represent solely payments of prncipal and inlerest are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assels at amortised cost are
subsequenty measured using the effeclive interes! method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or boss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired,

(i}  Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI)

Financial assets that ara held for collaction of contraciual cash fiows amd for
seling the financlal assets, where the asssts’ cash flows reprasent solely
payments of principal and interas!, ara measured at FVOCI, Financial assets
measured at FWVOC! are subseguently measured st fair value. Any gains or
losses rom changes in [ value of ihe financial assels arg recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains
and losses and interes! calculated using the effective interest method which are
recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or (058 previously recognised in
other comprehensive income |s reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a
reciassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.

(i} Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FYOC! are measured
at fair valwe throwgh prafit or loss. A gain or loss on a debl instrument that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a
hedging retationship is recognesed in profit or loss in the panod in which it anses.

|myestment in equity instruments

This category includes equity investments which the Group had nof imevocably elecied
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assels at fair value profit or loss are also recognised
as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits assoclated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured raliably. For mvestmants in equity
instruments which the Group has not elected to present subsequent changes in falr

value in other comprahensive income, changas in fair value are racognised in profit or
loss.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
213  Financial instruments
{a) Financial assels (sontinued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial assel is de-recognised where the confractual right to receive cash flows
from the asset has expired. On de-recognition of a financal asset in ils entirety, the
difference between the carmying amouni and the sum of the consideration recsived and
any cumulative galn or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive Income
far debl instruments is recognised in profit or loss,

(b}  Financial liabilities
Inifial racognition and measurernern!

Financial liabilitios are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomas a party
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the
claszification of A5 financial abilites at initial recognition.

All fimancial iabilles are recognisad initially at fair value plus in the case of fimancial
liatalities not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attnbutable transaction costs,

The Group's financial llabilities Include trade payables, other payables and certain
accruals, interesl-nearing bank and olher borrowings and lease Babilities.

Subsequant measuramen

Afer initial recognition, financial liabiibes not at far value through profit or loss ane
subsequently measured at amonised cost using the effective interest method. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the labilites are de-recognised, and
through the amortisation process,

Derecogmition of financial iabilifies

A financial liability is derecognised when the cbligation under the liability is discharged
or cancelled, or expires. When an existing financial lakdlity s replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing lability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is reated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new labilty, and the differance between
the respective carmying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Cifsefling of Fnancial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offsel and the net amount is reported in the
consolideted statement of financial position if there is 8 curmently enforceable legal

rights to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intentlon o setile on a net basls,
or to realise the assels and sattle the liabiiies simultanecusly.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2.14  Impairment of financial asseis

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs") for all debt
instrumets not held at fair value through prafit or loss. ECLs ane based on the difference
between the contractuzl cash flows due in accordsnce with the contract and all the cash
fiows that the Group expects 1o recelve, discounted a1 an approsimation of the original
effective interest rate. The expecied cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements thal are integral o the contractual lerms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit lossas
that result from defaull events thal are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
Far those credit exposuras for which thers has been a significant mcreass in credii nsk since
initkal recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the expeosure, imespactive of the timing of the detault (a lifetime ECL).

Al each raporting date, the Group assesses whether the credil nsk on a financial instrament
has increased significantly since initial recognition, When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a defaull occurring on the knancial instrument as at the reporting date
with the nisk of a default occuming on the financial instrument as at the date of nitial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or efior, Including historical and forward-looking information

The Group considers a financial asset in defaull when contractual payments are 20 days
pasl due, However, in certain cases, the Group may alse consider a financial assel o be in
default when intermal of external information indicates that the Group is unlikely o receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial assel is written off when there is no reasonable
expeciation of recovering the contraciual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair valee through other comprehensive income and financial assets at
amorlised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs excepl for trade recervables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.,

Stage 1-  Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which (he loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Slage 2— Financial instruments for which credit sk has increased significantly since initial
recognition bul that are not credit-impaired financial assels and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amauni equal to ifeima ECLs

Stage 3— Financial assats that are credit-impaired at the reporting date {but that are not

purchased or criginated credit-impaired) and for which ihe loss allowance s
measured at an amount equal o lifetima ECLs
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2.14  Impairment of financial asseis (continued)
Simplified approach

For frade receivables and contract assets that do nol contain a significant financing
component o when the Group applies the practical expedient of nol adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
EGLs. Under the simplifed approach, ihe Group does not track changes in credil risk, but
instead recognisas a loss allowancs based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for foreard-looking factors spedhc to the debtors and the economic envinonmeant

215 Leases

The Group assesses al contract inception whether a confract is, or confains, a lease. A
contract s, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a pariod of fime in exchange for consideration,

Group a2 a leszos

The Group applies a single recognition and measurament approach for all leases, axcept for
short-term leases and leases of low-valug assels, The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-usa assets reprasanting the right o use the underlying
assels,

{a] Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assels are recognised al the commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated deprecialion and any impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets Includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease paymenis
made al or bafore ihe commencement dale less any lease Incentives received. Right-
of-use assels are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorler of the lease
terms and the estimated useful ives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 5 years
Machinery 3to 10 years
Office equipments 3to 5 years

If owenership of the leased asset ransfers to the Group by the end of the lease 1erm or
the cosl reflects the exercise of a purchase oplion, depreciation is caleulaled using the
estimated useful e of the assel.

The nght-of-use assels are also subject to impairment. Refer o Note 2,12 Impaimemnt
of non-financial assels.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
215  Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (conbinued)

(b} Leasa lighifities

Leasa liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the presant
value of lease payments 1o be made over the lease term. The lease payments mclude
fived payments (including in-substance fixed paymeanis) less any lease incantives
receivable. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate. and amounis
expecied o be paid under resideal value guarantess. The lease payments also
include thie exercise price of a purchase oplion reasonably ceran 1o be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to lerminate the lease. The varable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rale are recognised as an axpanse in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment ocours.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses ils incremental
borrawing rate at the lease commencamant date because tha interest rate mphcit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is ncreased to reflect the accretion of inerest and reducad for tha leasa
payments made. In addition, the camying amount of lease liabilities is remeasurad if
there is a modification, a change in the [ease eom, a change in lease paymants (a.g.,
a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in assassment of an option 1o purchase the underying assel.

(c)  Short-lam leases and leases of ow-valug assels

The Group applies the short-lerm lease recognition exemplion o its shan-lerm leases
of machinery and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). When
the Group enters info a bease in respect of a low-valee gsset, the Group dedcdes
whaether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on shor-term leases and leases of low-value assels are recogmsed
as an expense an a straight-line basis over the leass term,

216  Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
first-im, first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished Qoods, COMprises
diracl maberials, direcl labow and an appropriate proparion of overheads, MNel realisable
value is based on estimated seling prices less any estimated costs to be incumed to
completion and disposal.

Where necassary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolate and slow moving items to
ad|ust the carrying value of iInventories to the lower of cost and nel realisable value.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
217 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprisa cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highty higuid investments that are readdy convertible into known amounts of cash, are subjact
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a shost maturity of genarally within thres
months when acquired, less bank overdrafls which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management,

218  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a resull of a past event, it is probable thal an oulfow of economic resources will be
required to salike the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated refiably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. If it is no longes probable that an outflow of economic resources will be
required to sattle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the me value of
maney is maternial, provisions are discountad using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where
appropiiate, the risks speahc 1o the lEbiity. When discounting is wsed, he increase in b
pravision due to the passage of ime is recognised as a finance cost,

219  Borrowing cosis

Borrowing costs are capitalised as parl of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly
attributable 1o the acquisition, construction of producton of thal assel Capilalisation of
bormowing costs commences when he activities to prepare the assel for its intended use or
sale are in progress and the expendilures and bormowing costs ane incurred. Bomowing cosls
are capitafised untll the assets are substantially completed for thelr intended use or sale. All
other bormowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the bomowing of funds.

220 Government grants

Govemment grants are recognised at their fair value where thera is reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. The grant is
recognised in profit or foss on a syslematic basis over the periods in which the enfity
recognises as expenses the relaled costs for which the granis are intended 1o compensale.
Grants related o incomea may be presanted as a credil in profit or loss, either separately or
under heading such as “Other income™ Alternatively, they are deducted in reporting the
related expenses,
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (conlinued)
221 Revenue
Revenue from confract with cusformers

Revenue from contracis with customers is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to cuslomer, which is
whaen the customer obiains control of the good or service, A performance obligation may be
satisfied al a point in time or over me. Tha amount of revenue recognised is 1he amount
allocated to the satisfied performance abligation.

VWhen the consideration in a conftract indudes a variabke amount, the amaunt of consideration
is estimated to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transfemng (he goods or
sarvices (o the customer, The vanable consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained wuntil it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will nol occur when the associated uncertainty with the
vanable consideration is subsequently resolved.

(@) Management services - Management fee income

Revenue from tha provision of management services is recognised over the scheduled
period on a siraight-ine basis because the customer simulansously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group

()  Management services - Advisory fee income

Reverwe from the provision of advisory services Is recognised elther (1) point in time
when control of he promised service is fransferred Lo the customer, generally on
delivery of the advisory reports; or (i) over time, using input method, based on direct
measurements of the value of the services transfermed to the customer 1o date, relative
to the remaining services promised under the contract, depending if the contract has
redevant lerms that entitle the Group with enforceable right to payment for perflermance
complated to data.,

(c)  Supply chain consultancy managament senicas — Soffware sales income

Reverwe from the sale of software licences is recognised at a paint in time when
control of the assel is transterred Lo the cusiomar.

(0)  Supply chain consultancy Management Senices — Implementation sevice income
Revenue from the provision of implementation service is recognised over me, using

inpul method, based on direct measurements of the value aof the sanvices ransfermad
1o the customer to date, relalive 1o the remaining services promised under the contracl
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
221 Revenue (continuved)
Reveanue from contract with customers (confinued)
() Supply chain consultancy managament services — Consultancy fee incoma
Reverwe from the provision of consultancy services is recognised over time on a
straight-line basis because he customer simulansously receives and consumeas the
benafits provided by the Growp.
() Personal cang income
Revernue fram the sale of personal care products is recognised at a point in ime when
control of the assel is transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery of the
personal care products,
{g) Petcare service incomea

Revernue from pet cane service is recognisod at the point in ime when the promised
service is transfermed o the customer,

(h)  Strategic investment income
(i) Food and beverage income

Revenue from restaurani operation is recognised at the point in lime when
control of the goods and services are ransfamed to he cuslomes, baing at the
poird the customer purchasas the goods or when the food catering services are
completed at the restaurants.

Revenue from sales of food products i recognised at the point in Ume when
control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally upon dedivery of the
food products.

(i} Commission on sales of columbanums
Revenue from commission on sales of columbariums is delermined as a
percentage based an the valug of transaction amount. Revenue related to such
COmMissions I8 recognised upon a lime when the Group salishes s
performance obligations by rendering services

(iy  Other income — inlerasl incomea
Interesi income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective intarest mathod
by applying the rate that exaclly discounts the estimated fulure cash receipts over the

expecied life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, {o the
net camying amount of the financial asset.

= 39 =
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
222 Contract assets and liabilities
Contract assels

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or senvices transfermed
o the customer. If the Group perlorms by transfeming goods or senices to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is dua, a confract asset is recognised for
the eamed consideration that is conditional, Contracl asseds are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assats.

Contract babilllies

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a paymen! Is due (whichever
is earfier ) from a customear bafore the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabiliies are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the confract (i.e.,
transfers contral of the related goods or services 1o the customer).

2.23 Employea benalils
(a8) Defnod contribution plans
Pansion scheme — Singapons

Payments made 1o state-managed retirament benefil schemes, such as the Singapore
Central Provident Fund, are deall with as payments to defined contribution plans and
are charged as an expenses as they fall due.

Pension scheme — Japan

Employees in Japan are required to be covered under the National Pension System in
accordance with the Japan law. Contributions to the pension funds by the Group ane
calculated as a percentage of employeaes' basic salaries. The retirement benefit plan
cost charged to profit or loss represents contributions payable by tha Group to the
pensmon funds,

Pansion scheme — Hong Kang

The Group cperales a defined confribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”} under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made based on a percenage of
the employeas’ basic salaries and ara changed 1o profif or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently administared fund. The
Group's employer connbutions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Schama.

- 40 -
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.23 Employee benefiis (continued)
{b) Defined benefit plans — Indonesia

The Group providas provisions for employee service entitements in ordar to meet the
minimum benefits required 10 be paid to qualified employees, as required under the
Indonesia Labour Law Mo B2023 in Indonesia. The said provisions, which are
urfunded, ame estmated wsing the projected und credit actuanal valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit liability comprising of actuarial gains
and lossas, am recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of financial
position with & comesponding debil or credil to retained profits throuwgh other
comprehensive income in the perod in which they occur, Remeasuremenis are nolt
reciassified to profit or 1055 in subsagquent perods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:
. ihe date of the plan amendment or curtaiment; and
* the date Ihat the Group recognises restructuring-related costs.

Net interest s calculated by applying the discout rate to the net defined benefit
liahility, The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit
liabilities under “Administrative expensas” in the consolidated statemant of profit or
loss:

® service cosle compdising current senvice costs, past-service cosls, gains and
losses on cunailments and non-routine setifemeants; and
* nel interest expense or income.

224 Share-based payments

The Company operales share oplion schemes and restricted stock unit scheme far tha
purpase of providing incentives and rewards o eligible participants who contribute to the
suceess of the Group's operations. Employees (including direclors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
cansideration for equity instruments ("equity-setiled transactions™).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair
value al the date at which they are granied. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial modal, further details of which are given in Note 32 to the fmancial
statements,

The cost of equity-settied transactions is recognised in emplovee banefit expense, iogether
with a comesponding increase in equity, over the period in which the perdormance andior
senice conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for eguity-settied
transactions at ithe end of each reporing period untll the vesiing date reflects the extent to
which the vesting pericd has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments thal will ullimately vest. The charge or cradit 1o the slatement of profit of loss for
a period represents the movemeant in the cumulative expense recognised as ai ihe beginning
and end of thal period.

R

212/309



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2.24  Share-based paymenis (continued)

Service and non-markel performanca conditions ara nat laken into account when
determining the gram date fair value of awards, but the likelinood of the conditions Daing met
is assessad as part of the Group's best astimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Markel performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered 1o be non-vesting condiions. Mon-wasting conditions are reflected in the lair
value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unlass fhere are aiso
senvice and/or performance conditions.

For awards thal do not ulimately vesl because non-markel perfoimancs andfod senice
conditions have not bean met, no expense is recognised, Where awards include a market
of non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesling imespective of whether the
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other pedformance andior
senvice conditions are salisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a menimum an expense is
recognised as if the terms had nol been modified, if he ongimal terms of e sward are mel
In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the ofal fair value
ol the share-based payments, of is oltherwisa beneficial to the employes as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-setiled award is cancelled, it Is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense nod yel recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting condilions within the control of either the Group
or the employee are nol mel. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are ireated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in
the: previcus paragragh.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options and restricied stock wnits is reflected as additional
share diluticn in the computation of eamings per share.

- P -
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (conlinued)
225 Taxes

Income tax comprises cument and deferred tax. Income lax relating to Rems recognised
oulside profit or loss is recogmised oulside profit or loss, asther in other comprehensiva
income or directly in equity.

(a) Cumrent income lax

Current tax assets and liabilities are maasured al the amount expectad to be recoverad
from or pald fo the taxation awthorities, based on tax rales (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacied by the end of the reporting pediod, taking into
consideralion inerpretations and practices prevailing in the counties in which the
Group operates.

(b) Defarred tax

Defarred tax i provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the
end of the reporting perod between the tax bases of assats and liabilities and their
canying amounts for inancial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax labilties are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

s when the deferred tax liability arrses from the initisl recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a fransaction that is nol a business combination and, at the
fime of the fransacton, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences assoclated with investments in
subsidianies, associates and joint ventures, when the fiming of the reversal of
the: lemporaiy dilferences can be controlled and it is probable thal the temparary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable fulure,

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible femporary differences, and the
carrylorward of unused lax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred lax assels
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the dedudtible temporary ditferences, and the camylorward of unused
tax credils and unused tax losses can be ulilised, except:

. when the deferred tax assel redaling to the deductible temporary differences
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the ime of the transacton, affects neither the
accounting prafit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates amd joint wentures, deferrad lax assets are only
recognised 1o the extent that it is probable that the temporary diferences will
reverse in the foreseeable fulure and taxable profit will be available against
which the lemporary differences can be ulilised,

-l -
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
2.25 Taxes (continued)
(b Defarrad tax {continued)

The carrying amount of deferrad tax assets is reviewsd at the end of each reporting
pencd and reduced o the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available 1o aliow all or part of the deferred tax assel 1o be utilised.
Unrecognised delerred tax assels ane reassessad at the end of each reponting period
and are recognised 1o ihe axtant thal it has becoma probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available o allow all or part of the deferred tax assei o be recovered.

Deferred tax assels and labillitkes are measured al the tax rates thal are expecled o
apply to the period when the assel is realised or the liability is seitled, based on lax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period,

Deferred tax assets and defarred tax linbikbes are offset if and only if the Group has a
legatly enforceable rght to set off current tax assets and current tax liabisities and the
deferred tax assols and deferred tax liabilibies relate to income taxes levied by the
same faxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intand aither Lo salile current tax liabilities and assats on @ ned basis, of Lo realsa
the assels and settie the liabilities simultanecusly, in each fulure pericd In which
significant amounts of deferred tax Rabilies or assets are expected to be sellied or
recovered.

{c} Sales fax

Expenses and assets are recognised met of the amount of sales tax except:

. When ihe sales lax incurred on a purchase of assels or services is not
recoverable from the taxation authaority, in which case the sales tax |s recognised
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as
applicable; and

- When receivables and payables thal are stated with the amount of sales tax
inchuded,

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authornties

are included as part of recoivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

2.26  Share capital and share issyance axpenses
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity.

Imcremental costs directly attnbutable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted
against share capilal
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.27 Contingencies
A contingent liability is:

(@) & possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurmence of one of more uncertain fulure
evenis not whally within the control of the Group; or

(b) & present obligation that arses from past events bul is not recognised because:

(i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economec benefils will
be required to setile the obligation. of

{iiy  The amaount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliabifity,

A contingani asset is a possible assel that arisas from past events and whose existence waill
be confirmed only by the occumence or non-occumencs of one or more uncertan future
avants not wholly within the confrol of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assels are nol recognised on the statement of financial position of
the Group, except for contingent liabiliies assumed in a business combination that are
prasent obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined.

2.28  Segment reporting

An operating segment is a componant of the Group thal engages in business aclivities from
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expensas that relate
o transactions with any of the Group's othar components. All operating segments’ operating
resulls are reviewed reqularly by the Group's CEO (the chief operating decision maker) and
senior management to make decisions aboul resources 1o be allocated to the segment and
to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available

Segment results that are reportad to the Group’s CEQ and senior management include items
directly attributable 1o a segment a3 wedl as those that can be allecated on a reasonable
basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assels (primarily the Company's
headquarters), head office expenses, and tax aseats and liabilities.

Segment capdal expenditure is Ihe total cost ncumed during the yaar 1o acquing propay,
plant and equipment. and intangible assets ather than goodwill,

- 45 =
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3. SIGHIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT

The preparation of the Group’s consclidated financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumpticns that affect the reported amounts of revenucs,
expenses, assels and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncerlainty aboul these assumplions and estimates could resalt n
outcomes that could require a materal adjustment to the camying amounts of the assets or
liabifities affected in the future.

31 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounling poficles, management has made the
Tollnwing judgemeant, which have the mast significant effecd on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Deferred lax assels

Defered tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses 1o the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised, Significant
management judgement is required 1o determing the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognsed, based upon the likely tming and level of futufe taxable profis logether with
future tax planning strategies, The amount of unrecognised tax sses at 31 December 2023
was approximately LSS5 103,000 (2022: approximalely US$2 911.000). Further details are
contained in Mote 28 to the financial statements

3.2 Key souwrces of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions conceming the future and other key sources of estimation uncerainty
al the and of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing @ materal adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilites within the next financial year, are described
bl oy,

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill
is allocated, Estimating the value in use requires the Group 1o make an astimale of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating wnits and also 1o choose a suilable
discount rate in order 1o calculale the presem value of those cash Rows. The carmying amount
of goodwill at 31 December 2023 was approximately US$53,126,000 (2022 (restated).
approximately US$36 585,000). Funher details are given in Note 14 10 the fmancial
statemants.

Revenua recagnilion fram adwisary Senvice

Revenue from advisory senice is recognised based on the stage of completion of the
contract, using input method which requires estimations made by management
Management eslimates the expected tolal costs to complete the relevant performance
obligations based on the budgets prepared for the confracts. Because of the nature of the
activifies, managemant reviews and revises the estimates of such expeciad costs in the
budget prepared for each contract as the contract progresses. Any revisions to estimates of
the axpacted costs would affect contract revenue recognition,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT (continued)
3.2  Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of properdy, plant and equipment and nght-of-use assels

Tha Group assesses whether there ara any indicators of impaiment for property, plant and
equipmem and right-ol-use assets at the end of each reporting perod. An impairment exists
when the camying valse of an asset or a cash-generating unit ("CGU") exceeds ifs
recoverable amound, which is the higher of its fair value less cosis of disposal and 1S value
inuse. Management has used he value-in-use mathod 1o assess recoverable amounts of
the CGLU. When value In sse calculations are undertaken, management must estimale the
axpecied fulure cash fows from the asset or cash-genarating unil and choose a suilable
discount rate in order 1o calculate the present value of thoss cash ows., The carmying amount
of property, plant and equipment and nght-of-use assets at 31 December 2023 was
approximately USST 920,000 (2022: approamately US36,157,000) and approxsmately
US5E, 646,000 (2022: approdimately USS$6,903 000} respectively, Further details are given
in MNote 13 to the financial statements.

FProvision for expected credtt losses on frade receivables

The Group wuses a8 provisicn maitrix to calculate ECLs for trade and other receivables. The
provision rates ane based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.2,, by cusiomer type and rating)

The provision matrix Is inifially based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the malrix 1o adjust the hislorical credit 0S5 experience with forwvard-
looking Information.  For Instance, if forecast economic condilions (i.e.. gross domestic
products) are expecled 1o deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults, the historical defaull rales are adjusted. Al each reporting date, the
historical observed default rales are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed,

The assessment of the comelation amang historical observed defaull rates, forecast
econemic conditions and ECLs s a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs ks sensiive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's histarical credit
loss experence and lorecast of economic condiions may also nol be representative of
customer's actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's frade
recaivables is disclosed in Note 20 to the financial stalements.

Fair value of idenifable assels and labitles acquired throwgh busingss combinalions

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for busingss combinations, which
requires the Group 1o record assels acquired and liabililies assumed al their Tair valuas on
the: date of acquisition. Significant judgment is used 1o estimate the fair values ol the assels

and liabilities acquired, including estimating future cash flows from the acquired business,
determining appropriate discount rates, assel lives and other assumptions.

- T -
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income laxes

Significant judgement is involved in datermining the provision for income taxes. There are
carlain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determinalion is uncariain
during the ordinary course of business in the financial year. Tha Group and Company
recognises liabdies for expected tax issues based on estmates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax cutcome of these mattess is different from the
amounts thal were initially recognised, such diferences will impact the income tax and
defarred tax provisions in the pariod in which such determination is made. Tha carrying
amount of the Group's Income lax payable and deferred tax asset as al 31 December 2023
was US$2.272,000 (2022: USS1,572,000) and US$1,906,000 (2022: US$1.915,000)
respectively. The Company is in a nil lax pavable position (2022 WSSnil)

a4, ADJUSTMENTS ARISING FROM PRIOR YEAR PROVISIONAL ACCOUNTING

On 1 Decembear 2022, the Group comploted the acquisition of 80% share cwnarship in
Auctus. As at 31 December 2022, the fair value assessment of the consideration payable
and the contingerl consideration payvable have nol been finaksed, the provisional
consideration of approximately US516,120,000 was applied for the calculation of provisional
goodwill as at 31 December 2022. Plagse refer 1o note 33() for details.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has finalkzad the fir value assessment
of ihe consideration payable and contingent consideration payable. The final fair value of the
consideration transferred is datermined 1o be approcdamately U531 7,033,000 and the goodwill
was adjusted to approximately US$13,2682.000,

Tha effects of the adjustments on the consolidated statement of financial position as al 31
Decamber 2022 are summarised below:

Adjustment
arising from the
completion of
31 December the acquisition 31 December
2022 of Auclus 2022
US5000 US3'000 USS'000
{As previcusly {Festatad)
stated)
Mon-current assets
Goodwill 35672 M3 36.585
Current liabiliies
Other payables and accruals (15.887) {913) {19,800)
Tolal affects on net assels 16,785 - 16,785
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised inio business unils based on their
products and services and has five (2022: four) reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) management service segment which engaged in the provision of management and
advisory senices;

(b)  supply chain segment which engaged in the sales of software licences, provision of
implementation servces and consultancy services which contribute less than 10% of
the group’s tatal comtribution;

(c) personal care segmen which engaged in the development, production and sakes of
malerial and organic products;

{d) petcare segment which engaged in the operation of veterinary hospital and pet care
business; and

{g) strategic investments segment principally comprises of oparations in food and
beverage industry and includes other education services and columbanium Services
which contnibite l6ss than 10% af the group's total eontrbubion.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operaling segments separately for the
purpose of making decisions about respurce aliocation and performance assessment
Segment performance is evaluated based on repoftable segment profivioss, which is a
measure of adjusted profitloss bafore tax.  The adjusted operating profit Is measured
consistently with the Group's operating profit except that finance income, finance costs, sharg
of profils and bosses of a joint venture and associates and corporale and unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in a joint veniure and associates and corperate and
unallocated assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment labilties exclude corporate and unallocated habilties as these liabilites are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers ane ransacted with reference o the seling prces used for
sales made to thind parties at the then prevailing market prices.

2023
Management Supply chain  Personal Sirategic
wRrvicn sarvice cane Pelcare  Imvestments Total
LIS5000 US5000 USSDon LS5000 LIS5000 U53000
Segment revenue
Revenue from external 43 064 2745 arTnar 18,265 16,457 121,778
cusiomers
Intersegment revars 1216 167 0 T 415 1,865
44,300 2.2 37247 18272 18912 12343
Becunciimion
Elimination of
inersegment rovenus {1.,885)
Taolal revenus 1,778
- 40 -
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Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

2023 (continued)
Management Supply cham  Personal Strategic
SeTvion service cane Pelcare  investments Todal
LISE000 USS000 USE'DO0 LSS 000 LUSE000 LUS$000
Segment resulls before
non-cash items 10,877 18 3309 1045 1M 20,874

Bon-cash e
Pravision lof sxpadied

credil losses {17y = = (&) = (22)
Impairment of proparty,

plard and aquipmae - - - - 27} (2T}
Impairmaent of right-of

[IECETEE - - - - (86} (BB
Wite-oM of inventories = - (T4 = {3} (77
Write=off of property,

plart and equipmant - - - - (23} [Fl]
Depreciation (1,283} = 278} {1.628) [2.520) (5, 7100
Amariisation {484} 31} {17 (211] (Rl (B3}
Gain on disposal of an

equity invesiment al

fair valus through

profit or kss - - - - 18 18
Gain on lermination af

leages 4 - - 3 - 1
Gain on slep soquisition

ol a subsidiary 15 - - - - 15
Gain on disposal of

snibaidiares - - - - d 4
Defined berefit

PN 51 - - - - 51
Equity-setiied share

RSN XpRNGES (268} # - - - (268)
Segment resulls 5,805 (1) 2934 1,987 B4 13,917
Comparate and

unalocated eXpenses [4.807)
Dparating profit 116
Finance income 211
Finance cosls {283
Share of losses of a pnt

venaune {13}
Profit before tax g
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

2023 (continued)
Management Supply chain  Personal Strategic
sefvice sSEvice care Pel care  investiments Todal
LSS 000 LISE000 USS000 US5000 LS5 000 LSS0

Segment assels 56,650 LI FF 12,856 24278 14,864 128,801
Raconciaion:
Elifmirsation ol

imersegment asssis (B7Aa)
Canpostaie and

unalocated assets T.245
Total assets 131,868
Segment liabilities 13,210 1,723 8142 2225 9106 54 408
Raconeilahon
Elimmation of

irleraegment liabilities (B¥a)
Conposaie and

wnalocatod labikbes 5221
Tolal kabilities 58,748
Cither segmen

information
Capital papenditure * 0 450 58 4,704 237 8,485

Capital expenditure consisis of addiions of property, plant and equipment and other intangibie
assets incuding assets from the acquisiboen of subsidianas

P
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)

2022
Management Personal Stralegic
SETVice care Pelcare  investments Total
USS000 USS'000 USE'000 USS000 USS'000
Segment revenue
Revenua from extemal
CUSIOMErs 37,115 24,027 10947 13470 85,550
Intersegment revenue 1445 65 - 398 1.908
38,560 24,092 10,847 13,866 87 465
Feconcilation.
Ebminaban af inbensegment
revenua 11,906)
Tolal revenue A5 5508
Segment results before
non-cash items 11,442 2,019 1,331 1,690 16 482
Nori-cash fams
Provigion far oxpected crodil
Izsses - - (@) - (L]
Write-off of inwentones - (56) - - 55)
‘Write-off of proparty, plant
and equipment - - - 12} 2
Depreciation (1.461) {67) (831) {1,789) (4.248)
Amorization 213 {15} (B0 {48} {3as)
Loss on desposal of property,
péani and aquipment - - - (67} 87
Falr value gain on an equily
nvesiments at faar value
through profit or koss - - - 4871 4,871
Gasn on lermination of leases 2 - - - 2
Gain on desposal and
deregestration of a
subgidary 15 - =121 - 74
Prowvision for loss on
Bouidation of a subsidiary [424) - - - 1424
Gain on remeasurement of
mvestment in associata lo
fair value upon busness
combsnation achieved in
stagas - - - 455 455
Defined benafit expanses 5 - - - 5
Share option expanses (198) - - - (198)
Segment results 9169 1,881 390 5,110 16,550
Corporate and unaliccated
expenses (3.922)
Operating profit 12 628
Finance income T
Finance costs 284
Share of profils and losses
of a joint venlure and
associabes 34)
Profit before tax 12337
= 52 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)
2022 (continued)
Management Persenal Sirategic
sarvice care Patcara  investments Tatal
U55000 U35'000 US5'000 uss'000 US5000
(Restaled) (Resiabed)

Segment assels 48,358 T.EEE 28,806 24 285 110,538
Beconciliahion:
Elimination of intersagrmenl

assets (380)
Investment in & jaint ventura 28
Corporale and unallocaled

assels B.202
Total assets 118378
Segment liabilities 20 635 6157 17 07 9 625 53 438
Reconcibalion:
Elimination of nlersagmenl

labiities (380)
Corporate and unallocated

labdiies 1413
Tatal liabilities 54 461
Cther segment information
Capital expenditura * 282 3,042 4 527 2420 10,271

r Capital axpenditure consisis of adddtions of praperly, plant and equipmant and other miangibla
assels including assets from the acquisiton of subsidiaries,

=53 =
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)

raphical information

{a) Reverwe from external customers

Japan

Greater China
Southaast Asia
Morth America
Eurcpe

Middle east
India

2023 2022
USS$'000 US$'000
82407 57,814
10,269 9412
12,967 13,837
2,220 1,752
1,274 724
583 864
12,058 1,156
121,778 B5 550

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the legal entities which

earmad the ravenue.

(B)  MNon-curment assets

Japan

Grealer China
Soulheast Asia
India

2023 2022
US$'000 USS'000
{Restated)

47 425 26,490
1,485 1,957
8575 10.081
15,103 16,557
73,558 55,085

The non-current assel infformation above is based on the locations of assets and
excludes financial assets, prepayment and deferred tax assets,

Information about & major cul r

During the years 31 December 2023 and 2022, no revenue from fransactions with a single
external cusiomer amouniad to 10% or more of the Group's lotal revenue.
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue from ith mers
{a) Disaggregated revenue information
Faor the year ended 31 December 2023

Management Supply chain  Personal Sirategic
senvice seTVice care Petcare  investments Total
US$000 USS'000 USS000 US5'000 USS 000 USS'000
Segments
Types of goods
&F Services
Managemeni
SAMVICES 21,489 - - - - 21459
Advigary
SAMICES 21585 - - - - 21,535
Supply chain
BENICES - 2,745 - - - 2,745
Personal care = - ErALD = = aaar
Pal care - E " 19,265 - 18,285
Sirategic
nvesimen
nconme - - - - 19,497 19,487
43 084 2745 3T 187 19,265 10,497 121,774
Geographical
markets
Japan 16,810 - 37,048 18 265 G 284 B2 407
Grealer China 3,764 = = = 6,505 10,268
Southeas! Asia 8430 ) 138 N 3,roe 12,967
KNorth Amenca 1.016 1,204 - = = 2220
Europs 1274 = - - - 1274
Middle east = 583 = = = 543
India 11,780 268 - - = 12,058
43,084 2745 3BT 189 265 19487 121778
Timing of
revenus
recagnition
Sarvices
transfarred
aver lims 43,084 2,348 - - - 45332
Goods and
SEMVICESs
transferred at
a paint in time - 497 ITET 18,205 19,487 76440
43 084 2,745 37,187 18 265 19,487 121,778

= B8 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

6. REVEMUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers {continued)
{a] Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Management Personal Strategic
SETVice cang Pet care  investments Total
uss'000 USS'000 US$ 000 Uss'o00 USS'000
ments
Types of goods or
SERICEs
Managemen! Sseraces 21,953 - - - 21,953
Advisory serices 15,162 - - - 15,182
Perscnal care - 24,027 - - 24,027
Pel care - - 10,947 - 10,947
Strateqe invesiment
ncoma - - - 13,470 13470
IT s 24,027 10,947 13,470 B5 558
Geographical
markats
Japan 17 802 23,906 10,947 5,059 57814
Greater China 4,834 - - 4528 o412
Southeast Asla 6833 121 - 38383 13,837
Horih Amadica 1,752 - - - 1,752
Europa T24 - - - 724
Middle east a64 - - - 854
India 1,156 - - - 1,156
3T 15 24,027 10,947 13,470 B5, 558
Timing of revenue
recagnition
Services ranslerred
over time Ir s - - - ari1is
Gaoods and services
transferred &t a paint
n lime - 24,027 10,947 13470 4B 444
Ir s 24,027 10,947 13470 B5,553

= 56 =
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Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

6. REVEMUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revanuea from rs ith mers (continuad)
{a] Disaggregaled revenue information (continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognisad in the current reporting
penicd that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting penod
and recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous pariods:

2023 2022
USE'000 USE'000

Reverwe recognised that was included in contract
liabilities al the beginning of ihe reporiing peniod:
Advisory fee income 41 239

(b}  Performance obligations
Information about the Group's performance cbligations is summarised Delow:
Managemen! services- Managemenf fee income
The performance cbligation is satisfied over ime as services are renderad and short-
term advances are normally required before rendering the services. Managament
service contracts are for periods of one year or less, or are billed based on the time
incumred.
Managemen' services- Athasary fee income
The pedormance obligation is salisfied either (1) upon delivery of the advisery reports
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery; or (i} overfime as services
are rendered and payment is generally due wilthin 30 days from the date of biling.
Supply chiain management senvices = Software sales income

The perfarmance obligation is generally satisfied at a point in time upon completion of
the senvices and payment is generally due when the sendces have been rendered.

Supply chain consultancy management Senvices =Impemeniation Senice Ncome
The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as services are provided
and payment is generally due when the sarvices have been rendered and payment is
generally due within 20 days from the date of billing.

Supply chain consultancy management Senices — Consullancy fee income

The performance obligation is generally salisfied over time as services am provided
and payment is generally due when the services have been rendered and payment is
ganerally due within 20 days from the date of billing.

Sale of parsonal cane products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the personal care products
and payment is genarally due within 30 days from delivery.

= 5F -
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6. REVEMUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revanuea from t= with {confinued)
() Performance obligations {continuad)
Fet care senace income

The performance obligation s generally satisfied al a pont in time upon completion of
tha sarvices and paymant is generally due whan the sarvices have been rendered.

Strategic investment income
(il  Food and beverage

The perlormance cbligation is satisfied when lhe calering services have been
pravided o customers, The Group's rading terms with its customers are mainly
on cash and credit card seitlement. The credit period is generally less than one
menth.

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the food products and
payment is genaerally due within 30 days from delivery.

(i)  Other strategic investment sales- Commission on sales of columbantims

The parformance chiigation is satisfied when the columbarium services have
been provided to cuslomers.

Transachon prce alfocated fo remaining perfarmance obfgation

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially
unsatished) perormance obligations as al 31 Decembor 2023 iz approsemalely
US52,616,000 (2022; approximately US$1,126,000). This amount has nat included the
following:

Performance obligations for which the Group has applied practical expadiant not to
disclose information about its remaining obligations if:

- The performanca obligation is part of a contract that has an onginal expecied
duration for one year or less, of

- The Group réecognizes revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right to
invoice customers in amounts thal comespond direcly with the value o the
customer of the Group's perfformance completed 1o date.

The Growp expects lo recognise approximately US$2 358,000 (2022: approximalely
US5859,000) as revenue relating to the transaction price allocated 1o the unsatisfied
(of partially unsatshied) perdormance obbgations as at 31 Decemboer 2023 in the
financial year 2024,
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Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

6. REVEMNUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS [continued)
har in ins

2023 2022
US5'000 UES'000

Fair value gain on equity investmants at fair value through

profit on loss = 4,871
Gain on remeasurement of investiment in assodiate 1o fair
valua upen business combination achieved in stages - 455
Gain on disposal of subsidianes (Mole 34) 4 74
Gain on tisposal of an equily invesiment at fair vaiue
through profit or loss 18 =
Gain on step acquisition of a subskdiary 15 -
Governmeni grants # 55 214
Others = 1
a2 56815

# The amount mainly included subsidies granied by cerlain governments from jurisdictons
where the Group operates, 1o provide financial support. There are no unfulfilled conditions
of contingencies relating fo these grants

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is amved &t after charging/(crediting):

2023 2022
USS5000 US$'000
Cost of inventories sold 21849 12,699
Cost of services provided 6770 6.756
Employee benefit expanses (including drectors’ remuneration
(Mote 10))*
Wages and salaries 39121 26827
Pension scheme contributions 3,114 2.285
Defined benefit expense (MNaote 23) (51) I5)
Equity-settled share option expanse (Note 32) 288 1898
42,452 28,305
Depreciation:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 1.718 1.023
Right-ol-use assets (Nole 13) 380 3225
5,710 & 248

= 58 -
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

The Group's profit before fax is amived at after charging/{crediting) (continued):

Auditor's remuneration

Expansas relating to shon-lerm leases

Foreign exchange differencaes, nat

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipmant
Gain on termination of lzases

Provision for loss on liguidation of a subsidiary®*
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 13)
Impairment of righi-of-use assats (Note 13}
Write-off of inventories

Write-off of propery, plant and equipment (Mote 13)
Amortisation of other intangible assets (Note 15)
Provision for expecied cradit lossas (Nole 20)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34)

2023 2022
ussooo Ussooa
1172 1.018
1,420 1,044
83 142
- 67
(1 i2)
- 424
27 -
[il5] -
7 58
23 2
853 335
2 g
{4) {74}

= Employea banafl expanses included in "Cost of sales” and "Adminisirative expenses” in b
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounted fo
approximately  US510,333,000 (2022 approximately USE5T63,000) and approximatety
US532,119,000 (2022; approximalaly LISS23 542.000), respactively

= During the year ended 31 Decembear 2022, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group was in the
midst of the bgutation, as a result, 8 provision for loss on liquidation of approomatedy
US5424 000 was recognised. For the year ended 11 December 2021, the lsquidation was still in

progrese and no further provisson is made

B. FINANCE INCOME

Bank interest income

231/309
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

8. FINAMCE COSTS

2023 2022

Uss'000 UsSs'000

Interest on interest-bearing bank and cther bomowings 215 184
Interest on lease kabilities (Note 27) 1668 100
as3 284

0. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

2023 2022

USs'000 USS'000

Fees 125 128
Other emoluments:

Salaries, alliowances and banefils in kind 230 B48

Equity-settied share option expenses 1 1

356 877

11, INCOME TAX
2023 2022
USE000 Uss000
Staterment of profl o logs and other COMPrefensive NeoHm;

Currgnt inoome 1ax

- Charge for the year 3359 2,396
- Under-provision i pror year 113 -
ferred tax
- Ovigination and reversal of tamporary diffarences (259) (458)
Total tax charge for the year 323 1,638
= B =
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Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

11. INCOME TAX (continued)
Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates for the

countries in which the Group and the majosity of its subsidianas are domiciled 1o the tax
axpense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

2023 2022
Us$000 US$'000
Profit before tax 8031 12,337
Tax at the statutory tax rate 1.518 2,097
Eftect of tax rates in foreign junsdictions 1,487 1,026
Tax eflects of;
Income not subject 1o tax 131) {1.060)
Expenses not deductible for tax 88 58
Under-provisicn in pror year 13 -
Prafits and losses atiributable to a joint veniure and
associales - 5]
Tax losses ulilised from previous periods {108} {144)
Defermed tax recognised in respect of previous penads {228) (204)
Tax losses nol recognised 280 158
Effect of withholding tax 115 33
Othars 17 {38)
Tax expense at the Group's effective rate 3213 1,638

The above reconciliation is prepared by aggregaling separale reconciiations for each
national jurisdiction.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023, there is no share of tax attrbutable to
associates included in “Share of losses of a joint venture and associates” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive incoma (2022: Mil).

= B2 =

233/309



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn
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Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

12, EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic eamnings per share amounts is based an the profit attribuiable to
owners of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the years 31 Dacembar 2023 and 2022.

For the year ended 21 Decamber 2023, the calculation of the diluted eamings per share
amount is based on the profit for the year attibuted 1o owners of the parent, The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation has taken into acccunt the dilutive
potentsal ordinary shares issued by the Company pursuant 1o the Resiricted Stock Unit
schemea. The polential dilutive effect of the share oplion B not included in the calculation of
diluted eamings per share unill certain conditions detalled in Mote 32 to the financial
slatemants are mel

Group
2023 2022
Us§'000 Uss'o000

Eamings
Profit aitributable to owners of the parent, usad in the basic

and diluled earings per share calculation 5478 10,381

Humber of shares
2023 2022

MNum
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes

aof basic sarmings per shara 21,558.365 20,088,787
Eftect of dilulive potential ordinary shares:

Restricted Stock Unit 182 ek

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpeses

of diluted earnings per share 21,358,547 - 20,089,767

uss uss
Eamings par share (in cents)
- Basic and dlluted 2541 51.72

For the year ended 31 December 2022, no adjustmen! was made (o the basic eamings per
share amount as the potential dilutive effect of the share opfion is not included in the
calculation of diluted earmnings per share unlil cerlain conditions detailed in Nole 32 (o the
financial stalements are met.

= B3 =
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

| irment ais

Property, plant and equipment and righi-of-use assets are tested for impaimment when there
ara indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverabie. In paricular, management
assesses impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of certain
reslaurant operations which continued to underperform for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 and 31 Decamber 2022

The recoverabbe amounts of the property, plant and equipmant and right-of-use assels
redating to certalin restaurant operations with indicators of Impairment were determined based
on their value in use ("VIUT) over the remaining lease term. During the year anded 31
Decaember 2023, the pre-tax discount rate used was 10% (2022: 9%).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, an impairment loss of approsimately LIS$27 000

{2022: Snil) for property, plant and equipment and approximately USSE6,000 (2022; Snil) for
right-ol-use assets was recognised in the profil or loss,

14. GOODWILL

Group
2023 2022
US5'000 US5000
(Restated)
At 1 January:
Cost 36,585 13,887
Accumulated impalmment - -
ket carmying amount 36,585 13,687
Cost at 1 January, net of accumutated impairment 36,585 13,687
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (MNole 33) 18,522 23,596
Exchange realignment (1.981) (658}
Met carrying amount at 31 Decamber 53,128 36,585
Al 31 December:
Cost 83126 36,585
Accumulated impaimant - -
Met carmying amount 53126 36,585

- 70 -
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

14, GOODWILL (continued)
I imment festin il
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the following cash-
genarating units ("CGU") for mnpaimment testing:

. Food and baverage

. Pel care service,

. Supply chain service:;

. Management service; and
. Columbanum senvice

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the CGU is as follows:

Supply
Food and Pot care chain  Management Columbarium
boverage  service sOTVico servico sorvice Total
USS'000 USS000 US3000 USE000 USS000  USS5'000
(Restated) (Restated)
AL 31 December 2023 2418 13,807 14,900 20,686 1,314 53,126
At 31 Decamber 2022 2.a70 11,082 - 21,728 1,404 36,585

(i} Food and beverage CGU

The recoverable amount of tha food and beverage CGL has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash fiow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period (2022 five-year period). The pre-tax discount rate applied
io the cash Now projections is 10% (2022 12%%), Anficipaled nevenue growth rates
over the five-year pencd for the CGU ranges from 2% to 19% (2022 1% to 12%). The
tarminal grawth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the unit beyand the fve-year
penod i3 3% (2022 1%).

(i}  Pet care service CGLU

The recoverable amouni of the pel care service CGU has been determined based on
a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period (2022: five-year period). The pre-tax discount rate applied
1o the cash flow projections s 12% (2022 12% to 13%). Anlicipated revenue growth
rales aver the five-year period for tha CGU ranges from 2% to 6% (2022: 2% to 12%)
The terminal growth rate used (o extrapolate the cash flows of the unit beyond the five-
year pariod ks 3% (2022: 4%),

a7 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

14, GOODWILL (continued)

nt testing of

(i) Swpply chain service CGU

The recoverable amount of the supply chain management service CGU has been
determined Dased on a value in use calcwlation using cash flow projectons based on
financial budgets covering a five-year perod (2022; Nil), The pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 20.7% (2022:Nil). Anticipated revenue growth
rates over the five-year period for the CGU ranges from 3% to 20% (2022; Nil), The
terminal growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the unit beyond the five-year
period is 3% (2022: Nil),

{iv) Management service CGLU

The recowerable amount of the management service CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgels
cavering a five-year pariod {2022: three o five-year period, Thea pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is ranging from 13% 1o 19% (2022 13% 10 24%).
Anticipated revenue growth rates aver the five-year penod for the CGU ranges from 5
1o 15% (3022: 0% to 12%). The terminal growth rate used io extrapolate the cash flows
of the unit bevend the five-year period is ranging from 2% 10 6% (2022: 13% 1o 24%).

¥} Columbarium service CEL

The recoverable amount af the columbanum senice CGU has been determined basad
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgels
covering a five-year pericd.  The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections Is 10% (2022: 13%). Anticipated revenue growth rate over the five-year
period for the CGU s 2% (2022; 0% t© 5%). The terminal growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the unit beyond the five-year period is 3% (2022: 4%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculations of the food and beverage, pet care
service, supply chain service, management service and columbarium service CGU for 31
December 2023, The following describes each kay assumplion on which management has
baszed its cash flow projections to undertake mmpalmmant (esting of goodwil:

Budge! grass margin — The basis used o celerming the value assigned o ihe budgaled
gross margins is the average gross margins achiaved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expecied efficiency improvemenis, and expected markel
development.

Growth rales — The forecasied growth rales ame based on historical achieved growlh rates,
published industry research and growth rates of the industries relevant to the GGUs.

Discount rafes — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant units,

As the camying amounts of the CGUs weare determined to be lower than its recoverable
amount, no impairment loss was recognised. Should the assumptions not be met, impalrment
loss may be required in the future.

-T2
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobtes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
UES'000 Us§000 Us$'000 USE'000
Intangible assat with indafinite 12 13 12 13
Intangible assets with definite 5,884 53189 - -
5,006 5332 12 13

Intanqibie assels stated with indefinte useful ifa

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US5000 USS000 USS5'000 USE'000
Internet domeain rame

Al beginning of year 13 15 13 15

Exchange realignmant i 2) (1) i2)

Atend of vear 12 13 12 13
-
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15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Intany - with dafini fud life live:
Patents and Customer
Group licences Software relationships Brand name Total
USs'000 USS000 USS000 US%000 USE'000

31 December 2023
Al 1 January 2023
Cosl 182 236 5.280 1,018 6,705
Adcumulated

amostisation and

imparment {78) (137 1,138) (34) (1,388)
Met carrying amaunt il o 4150 54 5319
Cost at 1 January 2023,

net of accumulabed

amoelisalion and

IrripaarTEn ge 99 4150 984 5219
Additions - 45 = - 45
Acquisitions of

subsidiaries

(Mote 33) - = 1,527 - 1,527
Amortisation provided

during the year

(MNote 7)) [13) (34) (710) (B6) {853)
Exchange realignment 1 (8] {77 (62} {144}
At 31 December 2023 74 104 4,830 826 5,894
At 31 December 2023:
Cost 1683 273 B3 921 B,0B3
Accumulated

amastisation and

impasrmint (89 [169) (1.841) (83) (2.194)
Met carrying amount T4 104 4 880 826 £ 504

- i -
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15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Intan :| with

Group

31 December 2022

Al 1 January 2022

Cosl

Arcumulated
amortisation and
Irrjaaren

Met carrying amaunt

Cast at 1 January 2022,
net of accumulabed
amaelisation and
IrripaarTen

Addilions

Acquisitions of
subsidiaries and
bUSINEsses
{Mote 33)

Amortisation provided
during the year
{Mote 7)

Exchange realignment

At 31 Decambar 2022

At 31 December 2022

Casl

Accumulated
amoelisalion and
impadrmani

et carmying amount

ful lives (continued)

246/309

Patents and Customer
licences Software relationships Brand name Total
USs'000 USS000 USS000 LIS5000 USE'000
183 181 2,335 - 2,860
(63} [123) (856) - {1,072}
100 28 1,450 - 1,588
100 3B 1450 - 1,588
- 48 - - 48
- 45 2582 933 3,980
(12 27 (261) (24) {335)
(1) (5) 21 BS 58
BE 99 4150 9E4 5319
182 238 5288 1.018 6,705
5] [137) (1,139) (34) {1,386)
BE %9 4,150 a4 5319
- Th -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

16,  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2023 2022
Uss'000 LISS'000

Unguoted equity shares 10,583 20,685

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidianes at 31 December 2023 ane st oul in Moba
1 to the financial stalements.
17. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTUREIASSOCIATES
Group
2023 20232
US5'000 USS'000

Interest in a joint venture - 28

Particulars of the joint venlure which is held by tha Company is as follows:

Particulars Percentage of
of issued Place of ownership
Mame shares held incorporation  interest Principal activities
TC Strategy Pte. Ltd.  Ordinary Singaporne il* Prowision of
shares (2022: 50) management and
advisory senvices
Group
2023 2022
US5'000 USS'000
Aggregate carmying amounl of the Group's investment in a
joint veniure
- Share of net assets - 28
Share of the joint venture's 0ss for the year {13) (2)

On 31 December 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreament to
acquire the remaining S0% equity interest in TC Strategy Pie. Lid. The Group
recognised a gain on step acquisition of USS515,000 under “Other Income™. Delails are
described in Note 33 to the financial statements.

= TB =
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

7.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE/ASSOCIATES (continued)
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
USE'000 USs'000 uss'000 Us5000

Intarest in associatas - - - -

Particulars of the principal associates which are hald by the Company are as follows:

Particulars Percentage
of issued Place of  of ownership
Mame shares held incorporation  interest Principal activities
Aruki Ordinary Japan il Cperation of
shares {2022: Mil} restaurants in the food
and beverage industry
Barc Ordinary Japan Mil Cperation of
sharas {2022; Nil) restaurants in the food

and beverage industry

The following table iBustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group's associates
that is not individually material:

Group
2023 2022
(N]=43 uss
Agpregate carrying amaunt of the Group's investmants in
associates
- Shara of nal liabilities i .
- Goodwill on acquisition - -
Share of the associates’ loss for the year - (32)
Share of the associates' olther comprehansive losses - (58
Share of tha associates' total comprehensive loss - (80)

On 1 Seplember 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement 10 acquing
the romaining 75% eguity interest in Aruki Group. The Group recognised a gain on
remeasurement of its 25% Invesimenl in associate 1o fair value upon business combination
af US5455,000 under “Other Income™. Delails are described in Mofa 33 to the financial
slatemenls.

- TF-
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

18, EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
UES000 USE000 Uss'000 USE'000
Equity invesiments at fair value
throuah profit or loss

Listed equity investment - 12,502 - 12,502
Unhisted equity investments 1.010 712 668 T2
1.010 13,214 1] 13,214

The above equity investments at 31 December 2023 was classified as equity investments at
fair valua fhrough profil o kass as the Group had not imevocably elected to classity at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

The fair value information related o FYTPL — equily instruments is disclosed in Note 38 1o
the financial slatements.

19, INVENTORIES

Group

2023 2022

Uss'000 USs'000

Raw matarials 447 483

Finished goods 7,555 4,758

8,002 5.2

Inventories recognized as an axpanse in cost of sales 21949 12 609
Inclusive of:

- Write-off of inventories 7 58

20. TRADE RECEWAEBLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS

Group
2023 2022
USS000 USS000

Trade receivables 11,801 11,555
Prowvision for expected credit loss (B8) {72)
11,825 11,483
Contract assals® 2,616 1,126
14 441 12,609

- TB -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

20,

TRADE RECEIWABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

#  Confract asseis redale to revenue eamed from ongoing advisory senvices. As such,
the balance vanes and depends on the number of ongoing advisory services al the
end of the year. The expected credit losses of conbract assets as at 31 December
2023 were considered to be minimal. The expected timing of recovery or setilement
for contract assets as at 31 December 2023 is within one year.

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, excap for new customers,
where payment in advance s normally required. The credd penod is generally one month.
Each custormer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict controd aver
its oulstanding recelvables. Owerdue balances are reviewed regularly by senlor
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact thal the Group's rade recaivables
relate 1o a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentratson of
credif risk. The Group does nat hold any coflateral or other credit enhancements over ils
trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearnng.

The movements in provision for expected credit losses of rade receivables are as follows:

oOoOooodn

Group

2023 2022

US3'000 US3'000

At 1 January 72 56
Acquisition through a subsidiary Pt 14
Provision for expected credit koss (Nole 7) 22 "]
Arsaunts wrillen off s uncollectible {28) (7}
Exchange realignment (2) -
AL 31 Dacembes [+ T2

The Group uses a provisicn matrix to calculate ECLs for trade recevables. The provision
rates are based on days pasi due for groupings of vanous customer segments with similar
Ioss patterns (i.e., customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reascnable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting cate about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if uncollectable for more
than one year and are il subject 1o enforcement activity.

As at 31 December 2023

Past due
Lessthan 1tod Owver 3
Group Current  1month  months  months Total
Expecied credit loss rate 0.25% 0.07% 0.29% 2.72% 0.55%
Trade recaivables (USS'000) 5565 3,218 1.440 1,668 11,881
Expected credil losses
UsSE000) 14 2 4 45 1]

-78 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

20, TRADE RECEIWABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)
As at 31 December 2022

Past due
Lessthan 1to3 Over 3
Group Current  1month  months  months Total
Expacted cradit loss rate 0.63% 029% 1.67% 0.45% 0.63%
Trade recaivables (USS'000) 10,070 679 222 584 11,555
Expected credit losses
(USS'000) B3 2 4 3 72

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US5'000 LISE'000 US5'000 USE000
Prapaymants 1.088 2210 - 7
Deposit for acquisition of a
subsidiary (Mote a) 1.465 1,546 1485 1,548
Deposits and oiher receivables 4,155 3,095 53 28
Amaunt due from subsidiaries
{Mote b) - - 37825 16,658
6,718 6,851 30,343 18,239
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables classified as
non-current assels {1.038) {1,763) - -
Current portion 5,679 5,088 39,343 18,238

The carrying amount other receivables approxamate fair value at 31 December 2023, Thedr
recoverability was assessed with referanca to tha credit status of the deblors, and the
aexpected credil losses as al 31 December 2023 were considered to be minimal.

Noles:

(@) The Company enterad into an escrow agreament with the sellers of Auctus to facilitate
payment arangemeant contemplated under the sales and purchase agreement to
acguire the equity interest in Auctus. Details of the acquisition in Aucius is sed out under
Mole 33{g) 1o the inancial slatemeants,

(b))  Amount due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

- B0 =
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobtes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

22, LOAN TO A SUBSIDIARY

Company
2023 202z
USE000 Uss000
Loan to a subsidiany (Note a) 423 452
Maote:

(a) The loan to a subsidiary is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demard.

23, CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
USE'000 USS000 USS'000 USE'000

Cash and bank balances 26,183 23473 5735 4811

Al the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in
RME amounted fo approximately USS1,024,000 (2022: USS1,045,000). The RMB is not
freely convedtible into ather curencies, howaver, under Mainiand China's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Adménistration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group Is parmitted to exchangs RMB for other curmencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.,

Cash at banks eams interest at floating rates based on daily bank depaosit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

- Bt -
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobtes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

24, TRADE PAYABLES
Group
2023 2022
Uss'000 US3'000

Trade payables 4,082 5482

The tfrade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

25, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
USS'000 USE'000 USE000 USE'000
(Restated)
Contract iabilites (Nate a) a7s 41 L =
Othar payables (Mate b) 2,950 5447 = -
Accruals (Mote b) 12,756 11,368 1,207 1,771
Consideration payable 557 557 - -
Contingent considaration
pavable (Noe c) 3.928 3,182 - -
Provisions (Mole d) 1,366 1,355 - -
Amount due o subsidanes
(Mote &) - - 309 Li{s]
21,942 21,950 1.518 2377
Other payables and accruals
classified as non-current
liahilities (1,623) {2,150) - -
Current partion 20318 19,800 1.516 2377
Motes:

(@) Contract liabdities include shorl-term advances received to deliver advisory services.
The changes in contract liablities mainly vary and depend on the number of shart-tarm
advances recesved from customers al the end of the year,

(b) Oiher payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of
one month,

= 82 -
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25, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

(¢} As part of the sales and purchase agreements wilh the seller of Auctus and Consus,
contingent considerations have been agreed to be calculated based on the average
eamoul ratios determined by the actual key employees relained, revenus sourced and
profitability achieved by Auctus and Consus against the respective targets stipulated
in the sales and purchase agreements. The contingent considerations of Auctus are
payable in cash in two tranches, falling on twekee months (“Auctus Tranche 17) and
twanty-four months (“Auctus Tranche 27) from the completion data while the contingent
considerations of Consus are payable in cash in two tranches on 31 March 2024
{*Consus Tranche 17} and 31 March 2028 (*Consus Tranche 2°).

As a1 the acquisition date, the fair values of the contngent considerations for Auctus
Tranche 1 and Aucius Tranche 2 were estimated ai INRS8,507.000 (approximalely
U551,195,000) and INR104,715.000 (approximately US$1,271,000) during the year

anded 2022,

During the year ended 2023, the Group has finalized the assessment of the fair values
of the contingent considerations for Auctus Tranche 1 and Auctus Tranche 2 at
INR 125,864,000 (approximately US51,555.000) and INR134,132,000 (approxemataly

US$§1,627,000).

As al the acquisition date, the fair valuas of the contingent considerations for Consus
Tranche 1 and Consus Tranche 2 were estimated at Nil and USS$T47 000, respectively.

Mo fair value adjusiments of contingent considerations were recognised in the Group's
profit or koss for the year ended 31 Decamber 2023 as the fair value changes are
assessed o be immatenal. The faér values of the contingent considerations were
calculated by applying the incoma approach using the probabdity-weighted pay out

approach,

(d) Provisions pertain to the estimated costs of restoring the Group's leased assets,
axpecied 1o be ulilised al the end of the respective lease tems. Mavement in the

provisions as al 31 December is as follows:

Al 1 January

Addilions

Acquisiions through subsidiaries
Utilisation during the year
Exchange realignment

31 Decamber

Group

2023 2022
USE'000 US3'000
1,355 Se2
246 816

- 156
{180) {138)
(45} [41)
1,366 1,355

(e) Amount due o subsidiaries are unsacured, non-interest bearing and repayable on

demand.

= 83 =
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobtes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

2T, LEASE LIABILITIES

The carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities are as follows:

2023 2022
Present Present
value of value of
Minimum i mum Minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease

payments  payments  payments  payments
US3'000 USS'000 USS000 US3000

Amounts payable:

Within one year 3,427 3,330 3,037 2516
In the second 1o fifth years,
inclusive 2,837 2,762 3,080 3670
After five years 738 o7 1,283 842
Total minimum lease payments 7.000 6,799 7,420 7128
Future finance charges (201) {292)
Total net lease payables 6,799 7.128
Portion classified as current
liahilities (3,330) {2.518)
Mon-current portion 3,469 4612

Movemens of carmying amounts of lease Rabililies during he year are as follows:

Group
2023 2022
US§000 USE000
Al 1 January 7128 4,198
Additions 4,124 4,685
Actussations through subsidianies (Note 33) T 2,206
Temination of lkases (555) {401}
Accretion of interest 168 100
Paymenis {4,208) (3,248)
Covid-12-related rent concessions from lessors - (31)
Exchange realignmeni 1275) (383)
Al 31 December 6,759 7128
- 88 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

2T, LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

The amounts recognised in prefit or loss in relation 1o leases are as follaws:

Group

2023 2022

UsE000 USS'000

Intarest on lease habillies (Note 8) 168 100
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assels (Mote 7) 3.8 3,225
Expanses relating to shor-term laases (Note 7) 1,420 1,044
Gain on termination of leases (MNole 7) (1) {2}
Covid-18-related rent concessions from lessors - (31}
Impairment of right-of-use assets (Nota 7) [il] Gt
Total amount recognesed in profit or loss 5,644 4,336

The Group had iotal cash outfiows for leases of approximately US$5.628000 (2022:
approximately US54, 2492 000). The Group also had non-cash additions of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of approximately US54, 124,000 (2022 approximately US34 656,000),

= 8T =
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28,

DEFERRED TAX

The movemenis in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are &s follows:

Deferred tax assals

Al January 2022

Acquisition of subsidiaries
and businesses
{Maote 33)

Deferred tax craditad/
(charged) 1o profit or
loss during the year

Defered tax credited o
other compreheansiva
income during the year
(Mate 23)

Exchange realignment

Gross defermed tax assels
at 31 December 2022
and 1 January 2023

Acguisition of subsidiaries
and businesses
{Maote 33)

Disposal of a subsidiary

Deferred tax credited!
(charged) 1o profit of
loss during the year

Deferred tax credited to
other comprehensive
income during the year
(Nate 20)

Exchange realignment

Defined
benefit
liabilities Tax losses

us$o0o US5000

18

i

i
-

TB4

183

185

{102}

Provision
and other
liahilities
Us5'000

705
ar4

ar

1953

Lease
liabilities
USE'000

828
665

74

(24)

Total
Us$000

2,335

B28

(1)
(281}

24

(1)

|5

1,050

166
(1

41

{66)

1.357

21

478

(86)

1478

m

118

(102)

3,907

288
i

627

[254)

Gross deferred tax assels
at 31 December 2023

15

1.770

1,604

4,579

= BB =
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8,

DEFERRED TAX {continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Accelerated acquisition
tax of Right-of-use
depreciation subsidiaries  assets Others Total
US5000 USF 000 US5000 US5'000 US5000
AL 1 January 2022 2 215 BE2 146 1.225
Acquisition of
subsidiaries and
businesses
(Mote 33) 244 1,083 639 24 1.890
Defered fax
{creditedy'charged 1o
profit or loss during
the year 158 (50) 38 240 17
Exchange realignment 3 29 (28 (21) (B8}
Gross deferred tax
liabilities at
31 December 2022
and 1 January 2023 181 1,257 1,461 389 3,298
Acquisition of
subsidiarias (Nofe 33) 15 a3 111 36T 586
Defemed tax
{eredited ) charged 1o
profit or less during
{ha year (104) {(145) a8 519 368
Exchange realignment {12) (25) (101) {48) (18E6)
Gross defermed lax
liabilities at
31 December 2023 80 1,180 1,569 1,227 4,066
. &9 -
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobtes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

8. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, cerein deferred tax assets and habilities within individual
subsidiaries have been offsel in the statement of financial positicn. The following = an
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposas:

Group
2023 2022
USS'000 US3'000

Met deferred tax ascets recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position 1,906 1,915
Met deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial pasition {1,393) {1,308}
513 G0a

Deferred lax assels have not been recognised in respect of the following itlems:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US5'000 USE'000 USE'000 USE'000

Tax losses 5,103 291 B35 -

The Grouwp amd the Company have unrecognised tax losses of approximately US54 ,326,000
(2022: approximately US$2,680.000) and US3635.000 (2022 Nil) respectively thal are
available indefinitely for offseiting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. The Group also has unrecognised tax losses of approxsmately USE7T7,000
(2022: approcimately US$231,000) that will expire in one to ten years for offsetiing against
future taxable of the companies in which the losses arose.

Defered tax assats have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen

in subsidiaries that is no! considered probable that laxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised,
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23, DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITIES

The Group recognised employment benefit Eabilities for all s qualifying employees pursuant
to Indonesia Labour Law No. 82023, The provision for employment benefits is based on the
calculation by an independent actuary, Kantor Kansultan Aktuaria Steven & Mourits, using
the: projected unit credd actuanal valuation method.

The mowvements in the defined benefit liabilities as lolkows:

2023 2022

UsS3'moo Uss'000
At 1 January 108 125
Service cost
- impact of changes in mathod - 42y
Interest expense 2 i3
Past service cost due 1o cuntailment n -
Actuarial changes ansing from:
- changes in inancal assumplions 5 1
- ¢hanges in expenience adjusimenis 4 {4)
Exchange realignment 2 {11}
Al 31 December 65 106

The amounts recognised in profit or loss and ciher comprehansive income in relation to the
defined banefit expense are as follows:

Hote 2023 2022
UsSs$'000 Usg000
Defined banafif expanse charged to profif or fosg
Service cost (53} 31
Interest expense 2 &
Adjustment dua to change in mathod = [42)
Deferred tax effect 28 11 1
Total amount recognised in profit or loss,
net of tax (409 4}
Actuarial changes ansing from:
- ¢hanges in financial assumplions 5 1
- changes in expenence adjustment 4 (4)
Defered tax effect 28 2 1
Tolal amount recognisad in olher comprehensive
income, net of lax T (2}

-G =

262/309



EDINETOOOO

ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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239, DEFINED EENEFIT LIABILITIES (continued)
The principal actuarial assumplions used as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2023 2022
Diseount rate (%) 7.00 745
Retirement age (years old) 56 55
Expected rate of salary increases (%) 10 10

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant essumptions as at the end of the reporting
period s shown below:

2023
Increase/
Increase!  (decrease) in
(decrease) in defined benefit

rate obligation
% US5000
Discount rate 1) (w1
Future salary 11 1148)
2022
Increase/

Increasel  (decrease) in
(decrease) in defined benefit

rate abligation
% US5000
Discount rate w1 (22§10
Future salary 1) 10/(22)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates
the impact on defingd benefit liabdities as a result of reasonable changes in key assumplions
ocowming at the end of the reporting penod. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in
a significant assumption, keeping all other assumplions constant. The sensitivity analysis
may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit liabilities as it is unlikely
that changes in assumptions would oocur in isolation of ong anolher,

0. SHARE CAPITAL
2023 2022
Uss000 US5'000

Issued and fully paid: 21,038,276 (2022: 21,321,076}
ordinary sharas 44 927 41,182

= 82 =
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30, SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

Number of
shares Share
inissus capital
USE000
Al 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 19,626 676 32,983
e shares issued (Nobe a) 364 400 2,841
Share Issue expenses (Note a) - (211}
Issuance of shares for acquisition of a subsidiary (Mote b) 1,330,800 5759
Al 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 21321876 41,182
Issuance of shares for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note c) 616,300 3,745
Al 31 December 2023 21938276 44,027
Motes:

{a) ©On 18 January 2022, the Company over-allotted 364,400 ordinary shares at a price of
USET 247 per share for a total cash considaration of appraximately UISS2 841,000, of
which share issuance expensas of approximately UWS$211,000 have been deductad
against share capital,

(B)  On 29 November 2022, the Company issued 1,330,900 ordinary shares as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of in Auctus, The fair value of the shares is calculated
with reference fo ihe quoled price of the shares of the Company at the dale of
acquisition, which was approximately US34.33 per share. The fair value of the
consideralion given was therelore approximately US35,759,000.

(]  On 14 August 2023, the Company issued 616,300 ardinary shares as part of the
cansideration for the acquisition of in Consus, The fair value of the shares is calculaled
with reference fo the quoled price of the shares of the Company at the date of
acquisition, which was approximately US$8.08 per share. The fair value of the
conssderaton given was therefore approximately UWSS$3,745,000.

=83 =
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. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein are presenied in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Exchange fucluation resena

The transtation reserve comprises all foreign curmency differences arising from the translation
of the financial statemants of foreign oparations and from the translation of financial lability
designated as a hedge of nel imvestmanl in the foreign operations, as well as foreign
exchange differences on monetary ilems which form part of the Group's nat investments in
the foreign operations.

Defined banefit reserve

Defined benefil reserve comprises the gain or bss on remeasurement of defined benafils
plans of certain subsidianes. Remeasurements comprising aciuanal gains or losses, retum
on plan assets and any change in the effect of the assel ceiling (excluding net interest on
defined banafit liabilities are recognised immediately in other comprehansiva income in the
period in which they anse.) Remeasurements are recognised in retained profits and are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent panods,

Ganaral resena

Genaral meserve represents (i) the difference between the consideration paid by the
Company and the net assets acquired from ¥YAM as part of the Reorganisation Exercise in
April 2021 and (i) the gains or losses on disposal of partial intérests in subsidiaries without
a loss of control,

32 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND RESTRCITED STOCHK UNIT SCHEME

The Company operates two share oplions schemes, namely Pre-IPO share oplion scheme
and Post-IPO share oplion scheme (collectivaly, the "Schemes™) and a restricted stock unit
scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible parcipants who
coniribute to the success of the Group's operations,

Pre-1PO share gplion scheme ("Pre-IP0 Scheme”)

Eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Scheme indude a direcior and certain employees of the
Group. The Pre-IPO Schema Decame effective on 1 July 2021 and, unless othenwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for & years from the date of the successiul tisting
of the Gompany in any recognised stock exchange (IPO Date™).

Under the Pre-IPC Scheme, eligible paricipants are granied options which only vest on the
conditions that {i) the graniee remain as employea with the Group for 3 years from the IPD
Cate; and (i) certain market conditions and performance larget of the Group are met. Once
vasied, the oplions remain exercisable until 8 years from the IPO Date.
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Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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a2 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND RESTRCITED STOCHK UNIT SCHEME (continued)
Past-IPO share opbion scheme (“Posi-IPO Scheme”)
Eligible participanis of the Post-IPO Scheme include cerlain employees of the Group. The
Schame became effective on 1 October 2022 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for & years from each date of grant.
Under the Post-IPO Scheme, eligible paricipants are granted options which only vast an the
conditbons that (i) the graniee remain as employes with the Group for 3 years from the date
of grant; and (i) certain market conditions and performance target of the Group are meat.
Once vested, the options remain exercisable until 6 years from each date of grant.
(1} Movements in share options

Movements in the number of share oplions granted under the Schemes were as

follows,
Pre-IPO Scheme Post-IPD Scheme
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price per price per
share  Number of share  Number of
uss options uss options
Al 1 January 2022 - 1,085,378 - -
Grant 5.00 155,500 4.3 185,000
Forfeiture 500  (298,533) o =
Al 31 Decambar 2022
and at 1 January 2023 5.00 947 345 4.3 185,000
Gram - - 548 621,000
Farfeiture 5,00 (227,284} 4,92 {113,000)
Al 31 Dacember 2023 5.00 715,081 529 673,000
-
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az, SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND RESTRCITED STOCK UNIT SCHEME [continued)
(i)  Quistanding share options

Details of the exerciss period, exercisa prices and the respective numbers of share
oplions which remained oulstanding as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Exercise price ber of options
Exercise period USS per share 2023 2022
21 December 2024 to 20 December
2027 5.00 614,561 769,845
21 December 2024 to 20 December
2027 5.00 100,500 152,500
1 Odlober 2025 to 30 September 2028 4.3 102,000 165,000
1 April 2028 1o 31 March 2020 568 400,000 P,
1 October 2026 to 30 September 2029 497 171,000 MNiA,

Al the end of the reporting period, the Company had 1,388,081 (2022: 1,107,345)
share options outstanding wnder the Schemes. The exercise In full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the
isse of 1,283.081 (2022: 1,107,345} additional cedinary shares and additional share
capital of USST, 136,795 (2022 WSS55,422 B75) (before issue expenses).

{iii)  Fair value of aptions

The fair value of the share options granted under the Schemas during the year was
US5T95,300. approximately USS1.28 each option (2022: US$Z98,660, approximately
U5%50.93 each oplion). of which the Group recognised a share oplion expenses of
approximately US$268,000 (2022; approximately US$198,000) during the vear ended
31 December 2023,

The fair value of equity-setied share options granted under the Schemes during the
year, was estimated as at the dale of grant using & bimnomial model, taking inlo account
management’s best estmate for the effects of non-transferability and exercise
resirictions (incleding the probability of meeting market conditions atlached io the
aptions}; and tarms and conditions upon which the options weare granted, The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:

Post-IPO Scheme ;;‘::fna

2023 2022 2022
Divigand yield {%) 4.37 4,37 4.37
Expected volatility (%) 40,77 - 40.84 41,12 41.57
Risk-frae interest rate (%) 0,14 - 0.41 0,36 243
Expected life of options (years) 6.00 B.00 5.72
Weighted average share price (USS per
share) 492 -585 388 589

The expected life of the options is based on the hislorical data over the past years and
is ned necessarily indicative of the exercise patberns thal may ccour. The expected
volatility reflects the assumption that the historical valatility is indicative of fulure frends,
which may also not necessanly be the actisal oulcome,

- 05 -
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a2, SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND RESTRCITED STOCHK UNIT SCHEME (continued)
Resiricted Stock Unit scheme (“REU Scheme”)

For the purpose of rewarding and motivating directors, executives and top-perfarming
employess of the Company and its subsidianes (the “Participants”). The Group operates a
REL Scheme to enable the Group to sttract and retain the bast available personnel, and
encourage and molivate Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Group and
its shares by alignimg thair interasis with those of the shareholders of the Company.

Under the RSU Scheme, the eligitle participants are granted RSU which only vest on the
condition that the graniee remains as an employee of the Group for up to 3 years from the
date of granlt Once vastad, an R3U is converted to an ordinary share of the Company.

The Group granted 86,300 number of RSUs on 31 December 2023, the weighted average
grant date fair value of the restrcted stock units of the Company was JPYT09 per unil which
was determined by the fair value of JOR of the Company on the grani date. The Group and
did not recognized any share-based payment expense in relation o the grant of the abowe
restricted stock units for the year ended 31 December 2023 as the directors of the Campany
are of the view that the amount i insignificant.

31 BUSIMESS COMBINATIONS

(a) ©On4 January 2023, the Group enferad inlo a sale and purchase agreemeant o acquing
the equity interest in E-Vets, LLC, a company principally engaged In the operation of
velerinary hospital. The total consideration for e equity interest amounted 1o
approximately JPY321,088,000 (equivalent io approximately U352 375.000).

() ©On 1 April 2023, the Group entered inlo a sale and purchase agreemeant o acquire the
aquity interest in Aleph Lid, a company principally engaged in the operation of
veterinary hospital. The tofal consideration for the equity interest amounted to
approximately JPY 330,000,000 (equivalent 1o approximately US$2 463 000).

{e}  ©On 1 August 2023, ihe Group completed the acquisition of the equity interest in Consus
Group, a company principally engaged in supply chain management consultancy
safvices, pursuant (o the sales and purchase agreaments datad 21 April 2023, The
total consideration for the acquisition in Consus Group comprises:

(i Cash consideration of approximatety LIS$11,235,000;

] 618,300 ordinary shares of the Company equivalent to approximataly
US53,745,000;

(i y Contingent consideration in two tranches depending on the eamout conditions
stipulated in the sale and purchase agreement, payable in cash in two

tranches on 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025.
(d)  ©n 1 July 2022, the Group entered into a sales and purchase agreement o Animal

Medica for an aggregate consideration of JPY1,380,000.000 (equivalent to
approxmately USS10,304,000).

= 87 =
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33, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

{e) ©On 1 September 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to
acquere the remaining 75% equily interestin Aruki Group, a group principally engaged
in the operation of restaurants. The fotal consideration for the equity inferest amounted
b JPY300,000,000 (equivalant to approximately US$2,071,000). Subsequent to the
acquisition of the remaining 75% equily interast, the associate investments in Aruki
Growup became the whally-owned subsidianes of the Group thereafter,

il ©On 31 December 2023, the Group entered into a sake and purchase agreemant to
acquire the remaining 50% equity interest in TC Strategy Pte. Lid, a company
principally engaged In the provision of management and advisory services. The fotal
consideration for the equily interest amounted to SG01 (eguivalent to approxsmaltaly
USSsnll). Subsequent lo the acguisition of the remaiming 20% equily interest, the joint
wventure invesiment in TC Strategy Pte. Lid, became the wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Group therealter,

(@ ©On 1 December 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of 90% share ownership
in Auctus, a company principally engaged in provision of managemant and advisory
services, pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 1 November 2022,

As part of the total purchase consideration, both the Group and the remaining 10%
shareholders of Auctus (“Auclus Shareholders™) are respectively granted call and put
options (the "Options”) which entities the Group to purchase and Auctus Shareholders
tor sell the remaining 10% share ownership of Aucius respectivaly, exercisable by the
second anniversary of the date of completion

Considering ihe lenms of the Options, the Group has the preseni access to the
ownership inferest in the remaining 10% equity inlerest. As such, the direclors has
made an accounting policy choice o account for the remaining 10% share ownership
as acquired as at the completion date, and tharefore the Group consolidates the 100%
equity interest of Auclus thereafter.

The redemption amount of the Options is performance-adjusied, depending on the
earnoul condiions stipulated in the sales and purchase agreement. As such, the
Options are recognized as contingent consideration recorded as a financial liatility
measured at fair value, with any excess over the camying amount of the 10% non-
controlling interest recognized as goodwill, following the accounting treatment &s in a
business combination. Any subseguent changes in the fair valse of the contingent
consideration are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and no eamings are
attributed 1o the non-controlling interast.

The estimated toal consideration for the acquisition i Auctus comprises:

{i) Cash consideration of INRST3 480000 (equivalen 10 approximately
US$7.535,000);

{ii) 1,320,800 ordianry shares of the Company equivalent to INR448.040,000
{equivalent to approximately USE5.759,000); and

(i} Comingent consideralion in bwo ranches depending on the eamoul conditions
stipulated in the sales and purchase agreement, payable in cash on the date
faling twelve months and twenty-four months from the completion date.
Accordingly, the Group has deposited INR127440,000 (equivalent to
approkimately LIS$1 546, 000) for the first franche consideration payout into an
escrow account as disclosed in Note 21(a) to the inancial stalemeants.
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

33, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the above acquisitions
as al the dates of acquisitions were as follows:

2023
Fair value recagnised on
acquisition of

E-vets, Aleph  Consus TC
MNotes LLE Lid. Group Strategy  Total
USS000 USS000 USH000 USS000 USS000

Property, planl and equipment 13 74 118 - - 104
Right-of-use assets 13 - 517 - - 17
Other inangible assets 15 525 552 450 - 1,527
Deferred lax assels 28 - 168 13 - 182
Inventories A4 Bs - - 128
Trade recaivables 18 - 1.384 - 1,402
Contract Assets - - 188 - 189
Prapayments, deposits and other

receables 182 - 289 - 47
Cash and bank balances 128 123 1.017 kD 1,299
Trade payabiles {240) - {158} (1 (399)
Other payables and accruals {107 (59)  (1,953) - {2.1m
Interest-bearing bank and other

bomowings (209 - - - (20)
Inlercompany loan payable - - (37) - (37)
Lease liabilities 27 - (517} - - {517)
Tax payable = = (274) = (2T4)
Deferred tax liabilifies 2 {180 {1886) (94) - (47D
Total identifiable net assels at fair

value 419 To0 828 30 2,074
Goodwill on acquisilions 1,956 1685 149001° - 1BS22
Gain on shep accquisiton - - - (15) {15}
Imvestment in joint venture - - - (18] {15]
Purchase consideration transfered 2375 2484 15727 - 20,568
Purchase consideration

transfemed;
Gatisfied by cash 2375 24684 11,235 - 15,074
EShare asued 30 - - 3,745 - 3,745
Contingent consideration payables 25 = - 47 = 747

2375 2484 15727 - 20,566

Cash consideration (2.375) (2,4B4) ({11,235) — [18,074)
Cash and bank balances acquired 128 123 1.7 k1 1,288
Met cash outfiow (2.247) (2,341} (10,218} 31 [14,775)
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

33, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

* Gocdwill ariging from the acquisiion of Consus amounting lo approximately
US5%514,201.000 is provisional goodwill. The finalisation of the goodwill amouni is
dependent on tha finaksation of tha purchase price allocaton

# The fair values of the first ranche and second tranche contingent considerabions are
estimated to be Nil and approsimately USST4T 000, respectively.

E-Vets, LLC contnbuted revenus of approximately LSE1,232,000 and profil of approximately
IS51,000; Aleph Lid. contrnbuted revenue of approximately LW531,965,000 and profit of
approvimately US$254.000; and Consus Group conlnbuted revenue of approximalely
US52,912,000 and loss of approximately US$151,000 lo the Group for the year erded 31
Decamber 2023. If the business combinations of E-Vels, LLC, Aleph Lid. and Consus Group
took place at the beginning of the financial year 2023, the revenue and profit of the Group
far the year ended 31 December 2023 would have been approximately USS 126,933,000 and

US55,659,000 respectivaly.
2022
Fair value recognised on
acquisition of
Animal Aruki
Medica Group Auctus Total
US5'000 USS000 WSS000 USS000
{Restated) (Restated)
Property, plant and equipment 4108 a5 163 5266
Right-of-use assets 1,587 479 140 2,206
Other intangible assels 45 833 2082 3,960
Deferred tax assets 133 63 242 440
Inventories 302 66 - 368
Trade receivables 553 211 3,147 351
Prepaymsents, deposits and other
receivables 290 izs 1123 2441
Cash and bank balances 1,674 1,281 TBO 3,Ta5
Trade payables (1.210) {268) {126) {1,604)
Other payables and accruals (458) {267} {3,774) {4,800}
Interesi-bearing bank and other
borrowings (3. 748) (2.458) - {6, 208)
Lease [iabilities {1.587) (473) {140 (2,206)
Tax payable = = (36) (3€)
Deferred tax liabiities {140} {315) {750} {1,208)
Total identifiable net assets at fair
value 2248 481 3T 6480
Goodwill on acquisifiens 8,058 2258* 13.282* 23,556
Previously held interest as associates,
at fair value - (G668} - (GBE)
Purchase consideration transfermed 10,304 20 17.033 28,408
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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33, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

2022
Fair value recognised on
acquisition of
Animal Aruki
Hotes  Medica Group Aucius Total

US5'000 USS000 WUSS000 USS000
(Restated) (Restated)

Purchase consideration transferred:

Satisfied by cash 10,304 20M 7,535 19,910
Share issued 30k} - - 5,759 5,758
Congzideration payable 25 - - 557 BET
Contingent consideraticn payable 25{c}) - - 3,182 3,182

10,304 207 17,033 29,408
Cash consideration {10,204} {2,071) {7.535) (19.910)
Cash and bank balances acquired 1674 1,291 TBO 3,745
Met cash outfow (8.530) (TEO) (6.755)  (16,165)

Az at 31 December 2022, goodwill arising from the acguisiion of Auctus and Aruki
amounting 1o approximabely US$12 369000 and approximalely US32 258 000 are
provisional goodwill. The finalisation of the goodwill amount is dependent on the finalisation
of the purchose price allocaton,

As at 31 December 2023, the fnalisation of the goodwill arising from the acquisiton of
Auctus and Arukl amounted (o approcimately WS313.282.000 and approximately
US%2,256,000, respectively,

Animal Medica contributed revenue of approximately USS5,785000 and profit of
approximately US365,000; Aruki Group contributed revenue of approximately USE2, 108,000
and profit of approximately US$184,000; and Auctus contributed revanue of approximately
Us3as0,000 and profit of approxmately USS5138,000 to the Group for the year ended 31
Decamber 2022. Had the businass combinations of Animal Medica, Aruki Group and Auclus
took place al the beginning of the financial yvear 2022, the revenue and profit of the Group
far the year ended 31 December 2022 would have been approximately US$80,223,000 and
LIS$9,152.000 respeclively.
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

34, DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Curing the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed of YCP RLA Trading
Inc. at consideration of JPY 19,250 000 (equivalent to approamately US$133,000).

Curing tha financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed of Koinustep, Inc.
at consideration of JPY7,000,000 (equivalent to approximately USE53,000) and deregistered
Solidiance Consulling GmbH.

Mote 2023 2022
Us5'000 US5000

Met assets disposed of;
Proparty, plant and equipment 13 1 -
Dederred lax assels 1 -
Inventories 2 41
Trade receivables ang 18
Prepayments, deposils and other receivables 27 2
Cash and bank balances 39 18
Trade payables (B2} {40)
Oiher payables and accruals (5) (27)
Interest-bearing bank and ather bormowings {71} {28)
Tax payable {1) (1)
Mesn-contralling inlensst {106} -
Total idemifiable net assets/(labiities) at fair value 128 {21)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 4 74
Satisfied by cash 133 53

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of
subsidianies is as follows:

2023 2022
Uss Uss
Cash considaration 133 53
Cash and bank balances reallsed {39) (16)
et infiow of cash and cash equivalants in respecl of the
disposal of subsidiaries a4 ar
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35, NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

()

Major non-cash transactions

During tha year 31 December 2023, the Group had non-cash addiions to right-of-use
assats and lease labilites of approximately USS4, 124,000 (2022 approxsmaltaly
US54,686,000) and approximately USS4,124000 (2022:

US54,686,000), respactively.

Changes in lkabillties arsing from fnancing activities

Al 1 January 2022

Changes from financing cash flows

New leases

Increase arising from acquisition of subsidiaries
[Mote 33)

Decreasing arising from disposal of subsidiaries
[Mote 34)

Daocrease ansing from early lermination of leases

Interest expenses

Interest paid classified as financing cash flows

Covid=13-related rent concessions from lessors

Fareign exchange movement

Al 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023

Changes from financing cash fows

Mew leases

Additions ansing from acquisition of subsidiaries
[Mote 33)

Disposzls arising from disposal of subsidiaries
[Mote 34)

Disposals arising from early ermination of leases

Interest expenses

Interest paic classified as financing cash flows

Fareign exchange movement

Al 31 December 2023
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approsimataly
Interest-
bearing bank
and other
bBorrowings
{excluding
Lease bark
liabilities overdrafts)
USE'000 USE000
4,188 12,585
{3, 148) (1,084}
4,686 -
2,206 6,204
= (28)
(401} =
100 184
{100) {184}
(31} =
{382) (772)
7128 18,917
{4,040) B,042
4124 -
|7 20
= (71}
BES) -
168 215
{168) (213)
[275) (613)
6.799 22,285
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

a5, NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(£} Total cash autflow for leases

The total cash oulflow for leases included in the consolidated statemeant of cash flows

is as follows:
2023 2022
US5'000 ussood
Within operating activities 1.420 1,044
Within financing activilies 4,208 3,248
5,628 4242

36, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in thess fnancial statements, the Group
had the following material transactions with the related parties during the year 31 December
2023 and 2022

{a) Compensation of kiy managament pessonnel of the Group:

2023 2022

US5'000 Uss'ocd

Short lerm employvee benefits 2,848 2835
Share oplion expenses T 15
2,825 2,850

Further details of the directors” emoluments are included in Nate 10 to the financial
slatemants.
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2023

ar. FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

2023 2022
USs5'000 Us$000
{Restated)
Financial assels
Financial assels at fair value through profif or loss —
designaled as such upon inlfial recognition;
Equity invesimants at fair value through profit or loss
- Listed equity investment - 12,502
- Unlisted equity invesiments 1,010 T2
Amovtised cost;
Trade recaivables 11,825 11,483
Financial assets incleded in prepayments, deposits and ather
receivablas 5620 4841
Cash and bank balances 26,193 23473
44 648 52811
Financial labilities
Amotised cost,
Trade pavables 4082 £482
Financial liabiltes included in other payables and accruals 9478 10,841
Interest-bearing bank and other barrowings 77995 16,917
38,755 33,340

a8. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The fair value of a financial instrumeant is the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged or seftled between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction, other than in a forcad or liquidation sale.

Eair valug hisrarchy

Al assals and Rabilites for which fair valee 15 measured o disclosed in the fmancial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on
he lowest level inpul that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whale:

Level 1= based on quoted prices junadjusted) in active markets for identical assels or
liahikities

Level 2 - based on valuation lechnigues for which the lowest level input that is significant
1o the fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Leval 3 -  based on valuakon technigues for which the lowest level input thal is significant
to the fair value measurement is unobservable

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in ifs
entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant
to the enfire measurement.

- 105 =
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a8,
Assats and liabilities not measured at fair value

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade receivables, deposits and othar
recaivables, cash and bank balances, trade payables, other payables and accruals and
currant portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their carmying
amaounts largely due to the short term matunties of these instrumems, no material change in

credii risk of counterparty, or with floating interest rates,

The fair values of the non-current portkon of interest-beanng bank and olher bomowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows wsing rates currently avallable
for instruments with similar terms, credil risk and remaining maturies. The changes in fair
value as a resull of the Group's non-performance risk lor nlerest-bearing bank and other
borrowings as at 31 December 2023 were assessed o be insignificant.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument cowld be
exchanged in a8 current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or

liguidation sale,

Fair valua hisrarchy

The lollowing table ilusirate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Financial instruments measured af fair valug

Fair Value measurement using

Quoted prices  Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
{Level 1) {Lavel ) {Level 3) Total
US5000 US$S000 US5000 USS000
31 December 2023
Unilisted equity
invesiments - - 1,010 1,010
31 December 2022
Equity investmants
designated at fair value
through profit or loss:
Listed equity investment 12,502 - - 12,502
Unlisted equity
investments - - T2 T12
12,502 - T2 13,214
- 106 =

277/309



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited
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38,  FAIRVALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)
There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year (2022 Nil).

The movements in fair value measurement in Level 2 during the year were as follows:

Unlisted
equity
investments
Us$000
As at 1 January 2022 -
Additon 801
Exchange realignment i
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 712
Additian 345
Exchange realignment B . i }

As at 31 December 2023 1.010

39, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank and other
bormowings and lease liabilities. The main purpose of these inandial mstruments iS W rase
finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilites such as trade receivables and trade payables, which anse directlly from its
operations.

The main risks ansing from fhe Group's financial instrumants ars interest rate nsk, credi sk,
liguidity risk and equity price risk. The direciors review and agree pelicles for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised balow.

Inieres! rabe risk

The Group's expasure to the risk of changes in market interest rate nisks relates primanly to
the Group's inlerest-bearing bank and other borrowings with floating interest rates. The
effective interest rates and terms of repayment of the interest-bearing bank and other
bormowings of the Group are disdosed in Mote 26 to the financial statements. Interest rate
risk is managed on an ongaing basis with the primary objective of limiting the exlent to which
net interest expense could be affected by adverse movements in interest rates,

Assuming the bank and other bormowings at tha end of the reporting penod were outstanding
for the whole year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease in inferest rates would
decreasefincrease the Group's profit before tax for the cument year by approximately
US5223,000 (2022 approximately USS169,000).  In the opinion of the directos, the
sensltivity te the interest rate used above is considered reasonable with the other variablas
held constant
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33, FINAMCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credif risk

Credit risk refers 1o the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulling in a loss to the Group. The Group's exposure 10 cradit nsk anses primarily from
trade and olher receivables. For other financial assels (mainly cash at banks), the Group
minimises credd risk by deakling exclusively with high credil rating counterparties.

The Group has adopted a palicy of only dealing with creditworlhy counterparties. The Group
performs ongaing credit evaluation of its counterparties’ financial condition and generally do
not require a collateral.

The Group considers the probabilily of defaull upon inithal recognition of assel and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting penod.

The Group has determined the defaull event on a financial asset to be when internal and/or
axfernal information indicates that the financial asset is unlikely to ba recenved or when thare
is significant difficulty of the countenpany.

To minimise credit risk, the Group has developed and maintained the Group's credit risk
gradings o calegorise exposures according ho their degree of risk of default. The cradit rating
infarmation is supplied by publicly available financisl information and the Group’s own trading
records to rate its major customers and other debtors. The Group considers available
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information which indudes the following
indicators:

- Internal credil rating

- Actual or expected signficant adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are axpected 1o cause a significant changa 1o the debtor's abiity to
meet its abligations

The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

- There is significant difficulty of the debior

= A breach of contract, such as a defaull or past dug event

+ It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or ofher financial
regsganisation

The Gicup calegonses a receivable for polental write-off when there is evidence indicating

that the debtor is in severa financial difficulty and the deblor has no realistic prospect of
recovery.
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a9, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk {contirued)
Maximumn exposure and year-end saging
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to eredit risk based on
the Group's credit policy, which is mamnly based on past due iMormation wnless other

information is available withcut undue costor effort, and year-end staging classification as at
31 Decamber 2023, The amounts presenied ane gross carmying amounts for inancial assets.

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stlage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
USE'000 UsS'000 USS000 US$'000 USE'000
As at 31 December
Trade receivables* - - - 11,891 11,891
Contract assets® - - - 2616 2616
Financial assels
inciudad in
prepayments,
deposits and olher
recaivables
- Mormal** 5620 - = = 5,820
Cash and bank
balances 26,183 - - - 26,193
31,813 - - 14,507 46,320
As at 31 December
Trade receivablas® - - - 11,555 11,555
Contract assets® = - = 1,126 1,126
Financial assels
included in
prepayments,
depasits and other
receivabies
- Mormal** 4,841 - - - 4 641
Cash and bank
balances 23,473 - - - 23473
28,114 - - 12,681 40,735

* For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group apphes the simpilified
approach for impaiment, information s disclosed in Note 20 to the financial
statements.

o The credil quality of the finandial assets included in prepayments, deposils and other
receivables is considered 1o be "normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk
since intial recogniion.  Olherwise, the credit qualty of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtiul”.
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39, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES {continued)
Credif sk (continued)
Maximumn exposure and year-end staging (conlinued)
Tha Group trades only with recognised and credibworthy third parties. Itis the Group's policy
that all customers who wish 1o trade on credit terms are subject (o credit verfication
procedures, |n addition, receivable balances are monitored on &n ongoing basis,

Furiner quantitativa data in respect of the Group's exposune 1o credil risk arising from rade
recelvables and contract assets are disclosed In Mote 20 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk 1o a shortage of funds using 8 recumng liquidity planning toal.
This too! considers the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets and
projected cash flows from operations. The Group's objective is 1o maintain @ balance
between continuity of funding and flaxibility.

Tha matunby profile of the Group's financial labilites a2 al the end of the reparting pariod,
based on the confractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Within 105 Over
Ondemand 1 year years 5 years Total

2023 US5000 USS000 USSO000  USS000  USS'000
Trade payabiles - 4,982 - - 4982
Financial Habilities included

in olher payables and

accruals - 871 k-1 - 8478
Intarest-bearing bank and

other bomowings 1,324 5526 14,120 20748 23,049
Lease liabilities - 3428 2.837 T35 7000

1,324 22,847 17,724 2814 44 209

2022 (restated)
Trade payables - 5482 - - 5482
Financial labilities included

in other payables and

accruals - 8,664 1277 - 10,841
Interest-beanng bank and

other borrowings 1,458 3,008 11,445 1817 17,527
Lease liabilities - 3,037 3,080 1,283 T.420

1,456 21,182 15,812 2,810 41,370
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a9, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of
changes in the levels of eguity indices and the values of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual listed equity investmenis classified as
equity imestment at fair value through profit or loss (Note 18) as at 31 Decembser 2023.

The Group's listed investmant is listed on the TSE and are valued at quoted market prices at
the end of the reporting peariod,

The market equity index for the TSE, at the close of business of the nearest trading day in
the: year to the end of the reporting perod, and the respective highest and lowesl points
during the year were as follaws;

2023 Highllow 2022 Highilow
US$000 USE'000 US3'000 US$000

Mikked index 33 34726 26 29/25

The following table demonsirates the sensitivity to every 5% change in the fair values of the
equily nvestments, with all ather vanablas held constant and before any impact on ax, based
on their camying amounts at the end of the reporting perod, For the purpose of this analysis,
for the isted equity invesiments designated at fair value thiough profit or loss, the impact is
deemed to be on the profit before tax,

Carrying
amountof  Changes in
equity  profil before

investment tax
USE'000 USS'000
2023
Equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss (Nate 18)
Unhisted eguity invasiments 1.010 5
1.010 51
2022
Equity invesimeant at fair value through
profit or loss (Maote 18)
Listed equity investment 12,502 625
Unlisted eguity invasimenis 712 38
13.214 861

- 111 -
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a9, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Other risk - Foreign currency risk

The Group's exposure fo the risk of changes in fareign currency exchange rafes relates
primarily 1o the Group's operating activities to the exten thal revenue of @xpenses
denominated in a currency that is different from the functional currency of the relevant
subsidiaries of the Group. The Group has no signiicant foreign currency risk because the
transaction cumencies are mainly denominated in the respective kocal currency of the
operating subsidiaries, principally ine JPY, SGD, HK3S, INR and RMB which are transialed
and consolidated o the Group's consolidated financial statemant in USS.

The direclors are of the view that the Group's operaling cash flows and liquidity are nol
subject to significant foreign exchange rale risks and therefore no hedging arangemesants
were made, Howaver, the Group will review and monitor the relevant foreign exchange
exposure from time to ime based on ils business development requirements and may enter
into foreign exchange hedging arrangemeants when appropriate.

40, CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are 1o safeguard the Group's
ability 1o eontinue as a geing concem and Lo maintain heallhy capital ratios in order to supporn
its business and maximise shareholders’ value,

The Group manages iis capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic condiions. To maintain or adjust the capital struclure, the Group may retum
capital to shareholders, Issue new shares or sell assets o redece debl. Mo changes were
made in the objeclives, policies or processes for managing capilal during the year ended 31
Cecember 2023,

The Group monitors capital by ensuring that it maintain a positive net assels value. MNet
assets aliribulable 1o owners of the parent represent share capital, exchange fluctuation
reserve and retained profits. The net assets value attributabie to owners of the parent at 31
December 2023 ware as follows:

2023 2022

US%'000 Uss'000

Share capital 44,927 41,182

Resamves 25977 22821

Equity aliributable lo owners of the parent 70,904 63,803
- 112 -
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41, SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent o ihe year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered info a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third pary 10 acguire 100% equity interest in
Shankuo Business Parners Limited and itz affiliates (collectively, “Shenkuo Group®) a
company principally engaged in the boutique management conmsulling business. The
eslimaled total consideration amounted to approximately US$4, 939,000,

a2, COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
As further explained in note 4 to the financlal statemenis, refrospeciive adjustment arising
from prior year provisional accounting was made, and certain ilems and balances in prior
vear inancial statements and explanalory notes have been restaled,

43, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital expanditure confracied for as at the balance sheel date but nol recognised in the
financial statements are as follows:

2023 2022
USS000 USS'000

Capital commitments in respect of property, plant and
equipmeant 1,057 -

44, APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consalidatad financial statements ware approved and authorised for issue by the board
of direclors on 25 April 2024,

- 113 -
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Independent Auditor's Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of YCP Holdings (Global) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at
31 December 2023, the statement of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flows
statement of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial
position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”) so as to give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and
of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group
and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”") Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting
Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Revenue recognition — in relation to management service revenue stream

The Group recognises revenue from contracts for management service consultancy projects over time, based on
the progress of each contract. The progress is assessed by reference to the stage of completion of the respective
contract activity (i.e., performance obligations) of its projects at the end of each reporting period. The stage of
completion is measured by reference to the cost incurred to date relative to the total estimated cost to satisfy the
performance obligation. These assessments required management to apply significant judgement and make
assumptions and estimates in measuring costs incurred for each performance obligation and total budgeted
contract costs. The subjectivity and complexity involved in these assessments can significantly impact the results of
the Group. Accordingly, we have determined this to be a key audit matter.

We performed the following procedures:

Obtained understanding of the Group’s procedures and processes for recognising revenue from contracts
with customers.

Assessed the basis for the identification of performance obligations and determined that such contract
revenue are recognised over time. Our assessment includes examining project documents and reviewing,
on a sample basis, contractual terms and conditions and discussion with management on the performance
obligations identified.

Assessed contract revenues recognised and project costs incurred, on a sample basis, by comparing
against the relevant contracts and supporting documents which include those that support the staff costs
incurred.

Evaluated reasonableness of management’s estimates used to determine total costs to complete for
individual contracts.

Assessed the arithmetic accuracy of the revenue recognised based on the stage of completion calculations
made for individually significant projects.

Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of material accounting policies for revenue from contracts with
customers, judgment and methods used in estimating revenue, contract assets, and contract liabilities.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

As at 31 December 2023, net carrying value of goodwill of the Group amounted to US$53.1 million. The goodwill is
allocated to the respective cash-generating unit (“CGU"). Goodwill is tested for impairment annually by estimating
the recoverable amounts of the CGU using the value-in-use model. Management applied the value-in-use
(discounted cash flow method) to determine the recoverable amounts of the respective CGUs.

We considered the audit of management’s impairment assessment to be a key audit matter because the
assessment process involves management exercising significant judgement and making assumptions of future
market and economic conditions.

We evaluated the appropriateness of CGU identified by management based on our knowledge of the business
acquisition giving rise to the goodwill and our understanding of the current business of the Group.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

We have performed the following procedures:

Performed walkthrough of management’s process of setting budgets on which the cash flow forecasts are
based.

Tested robustness of management’s budgeting process by comparing the actual financial performance
against previously forecasted results.

Assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions used in cash flow projections by comparing them against
future business plans.

Involved our internal specialist in the review of discount and terminal growth rates.

Performed sensitivity analysis, focusing on reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions or discount
rates, and analysed the impact to the recoverable amount.

Reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures made on the goodwill in Note 14 to the financial statements.

Accounting for business combination

During the financial year, the Group has completed the following acquisitions:

(a) 100% equity interest in Consus Group for a total purchase consideration of US$11.2 million via cash, US$3.7
million via share issuance and two tranches of contingent consideration depending on the earnout conditions. The
purchase price allocation (“PPA”) exercise for Consus is provisional;

(b) 100% equity interest in E-vets, LLC (“Evet”) for a total purchase consideration of JPY321.1 million (equivalent to
approximately US$2.4 million). The PPA exercise for Evet has been finalised; and;

(c) 100% equity interest in Aleph Ltd., (“Aleph”) for a total purchase consideration of JPY330 million (equivalent to
US$2.5 million). The PPA exercise for Aleph has been finalised.

The above acquisitions were accounted for using the acquisition method and the Group performed purchase price
allocation (“PPA”) exercises for each new acquisition during the year as disclosed in Note 33 of the financial
statements.

Significant judgement and estimates were made in the PPA exercises on the identification of intangible assets,
valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities and measurement of the fair value of the new shares issued. Given
the quantitative materiality of these acquisitions, the significant management judgement required in the PPA
exercises, we considered the accounting for the above acquisitions to be a key audit matter.

We have performed the following procedures:

Read the relevant agreements to obtain an understanding of the transaction and the key terms.
Corroborated the identification of the acquired assets based on discussion with management and our
understanding of the target companies.

Engaged our internal valuation specialists to assist us in reviewing the nature and basis of the external party
valuation report and adjustments to the purchase consideration and the acquired assets.

Assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the external valuers by considering their
professional background, reputation and experience in similar industry.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Accounting for business combination (Continued)

We have performed the following procedures (Continued):

Reviewed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology used by management in the fair valuation of
acquired assets and liabilities, including determining whether the assumptions used in valuing the acquired
intangible assets were consistent with what a market participant would use.

Assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures in Note 33 of the financial statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act, SFRS(I) and IFRS, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting
controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised

use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’'s report is Tan Boon Leong.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
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